CPAW AGENDA ITEM
READINESS WORKSHEET
CPAW Meeting Date: February 1, 2018
Name of Committee: Steering
1. Agenda Item Name: What CPAW Will Look Like Going Forward – Steering
Committee Recommendations.
2. Desired Outcome: CPAW agreement on format and content of future CPAW
meetings.
3. Background: Attendees at the January CPAW meeting considered feedback
from the most recent Community Program Planning Process, and discussed
possible changes in structure and content to future CPAW meetings. The
consensus was to commission CPAW’s Steering Committee to meet and develop
recommendations for the full membership to consider and act upon.
4. Summary: CPAW’s Steering Committee met on January 18 and recommends
the following:




Meeting Length and Time. Regular meetings to continue being held on the
first Thursday of the month at Bisso Lane. However, meeting length to be
reduced from three to two hours. CPAW membership needs to decide
whether to start the meeting at 2:00 or 3:00 P.M. As before, stakeholder
orientation sessions will start one hour prior to the meeting.
Meeting Content. It is recommended that starting in June CPAW alternate
hosting a community forum in one of the four county regions followed by two
regular CPAW meetings at 2425 Bisso Lane in Concord. Community forums
will generally follow previous formats, to include plenary sessions and small
group discussions. Regular CPAW meetings will reduce to two hours by:
o Dialogue with CCBHS Leadership. Rather than a report by the Deputy
Director with a question and answer period, any member of CCBHS
leadership will be invited to bring a topic in which they would like to
listen to stakeholder input to assist in their decision-making. A short
bullet formatted summary of significant CCBHS developments will be
included in the announcement a week prior to the CPAW meeting, and
attendees can provide input and/or ask the Executive Team
representative to clarify any of the listed topics.
o Committee Reports. Rather than ten separate committee reports,
committee representatives will be asked to communicate significant
issues and developments before the CPAW meeting that their
respective committees have been working on. These will be shared in
bullet format in the announcement a week prior to the CPAW meeting.



Attendees will then be given the opportunity to comment and/or
discuss any of these items during the CPAW meeting.
o Agenda Items for Upcoming Meetings. The following represents
topics/issues suggested by CPAW members for regular meetings at
2425 Bisso Lane in Concord. The Steering Committee recommends
that CPAW consider these and any additional topics, and agree upon
topics to be agenda items in the coming months:
 Plan upcoming community forum discussion topics, and review
previously held community forums for continuous improvement.
For example, consider whether a community forum works in the
evening, or whether to utilize live streaming with call-in
capability.

Have CCBHS, H3, AODS Chiefs bring doable objectives to
CPAW and share how they will be accomplishing these in the
coming months.

Select recently completed program and fiscal reviews, and have
these programs come and dialogue with CPAW.

Invite keynote speakers who are expert on topical issues.

Have a CPAW meeting dedicated to what is being done in the
County to increase affordable housing, as well as supportive
housing efforts for persons with serious mental illness.

Hold a joint meeting with the Mental Health Commission, and
develop a joint agenda. Suggest March 2019 to jointly discuss
draft MHSA Three Year Plan Update.
 Have new and existing Innovative Projects come and share their
progress.
Meeting Locations. The Steering Committee recommends an eighteen month
cycle starting in the June/July time frame that will alternate regional
community forums with regular CPAW monthly meetings as follows:
2018
o June
- Community Forum in South/Central County (suggest
evening meeting)
o July
– regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
o August
– regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
o September – Community Forum in West County
o October
– regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
o November – regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
o December – Community Forum in East County
2019
o January
– regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
o February – regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
o March
– Community Forum in South/Central County

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

April
– regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
May
– regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
June
– Community Forum in West County
July
– regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
August
– regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
September – Community Forum in East County
October
– regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
November – regular CPAW meeting, 2425 Bisso Lane, Concord
December – Large Community Forum in South/Central County to
synthesize stakeholder input from previous community
forums

5. Specific Recommendation: CPAW accept the above recommendations,
decide whether to start meetings at 2:00 or 3:00 P.M., and consider/add/delete
suggested topics for upcoming CPAW meetings
6. Anticipated Time Needed on Agenda: 55 minutes
7. Who will report on this item? Jennifer Tuipulotu and Steering Committee
members.

Mental Health Services Act (MHSA)
Program and Fiscal Review

I.

Date of On-site Review: February 24, March 20, 2017
Date of Exit Meeting:
August 2, 2017

II.

Review Team: Stephanie Chenard and Warren Hayes

III.

Name of Plan Element:

IV.

Plan Element Description. The George and Cynthia Miller Wellness Center
(Miller Wellness Center, or the Center) provides primary and behavioral health
care, to include the diversion of children and adults from Psychiatric Emergency
Services (PES). Children and adults who are evaluated at PES may be referred
to the Miller Wellness Center if they do not need hospital level of care. The Miller
Wellness Center offers urgent same-day appointments for individuals who are
not open to the Contra Costa Mental Health System, or who have disconnected
from care after previously being seen. Services include brief family therapy,
medication refills, substance abuse counseling, and general non-acute
assistance. In addition, the Center provides appointments for patients post
psychiatric inpatient discharge. This provides the opportunity for a successful
transition that ensures that medications are obtained and appointments are
scheduled in the home clinic. The behavioral health clinic is part of the Center’s
certification as a Federally Qualified Health Center, and has separate entrances
from the physical health side. The Miller Wellness Center is under the
administration of Contra Costa Regional Medical Center (CCRMC), with MHSA
funding three positions in their behavioral health clinic: two Community Support
Worker (CSW) positions, and a Program Manager.

V.

Purpose of Review.
Contra Costa Behavioral Health Services (CCBHS) is
committed to evaluating the effective use of funds provided by the Mental Health
Services Act. Toward this end a comprehensive program and fiscal review was
conducted of the above plan element. The results of this review are contained
herein, and will assist in a) improving the services and supports that are
provided, b) more efficiently support the County’s MHSA Three Year Program
and Expenditure Plan, and c) ensure compliance with statute, regulations and

George & Cynthia Miller Wellness Center
25 Allen St,
Martinez, CA 94553
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policy. In the spirit of continually working toward better services we most
appreciate this opportunity to collaborate together with the staff and clients
participating in this program/plan element in order to review past and current
efforts, and plan for the future.
VI.

Summary of Findings.
Topic
1. Deliver services according to the
values of the MHSA

Met
Standard
Met

Notes
Consumers indicated plan
element meets the values
of MHSA
The program serves the
agreed upon population

2. Serve the agreed upon target
population.

Met

3. Provide the services for which
funding was allocated.

Partially
Met

More structure, clarity, and
supervision of CSW roles
are needed

Met

Services are consistent
with Three Year Plan
The number of individuals
to be served has not been
specified but should be
identified for future
evaluation
Outcomes have not yet
been specified for this plan
element. Neither targets
nor goals been identified
and should be developed
for future evaluation
The grievance review
process meets quality
assurance standards
The program is HIPAA
compliant

4. Meet the needs of the community
and/or population.
5. Serve the number of individuals
that have been agreed upon.

6. Achieve the outcomes that have
been agreed upon.

Unmet

Unmet

7. Quality Assurance

Met

8. Ensure protection of confidentiality
of protected health information.

Met

9. Staffing sufficient for the program

Met

Staffing levels support
service provision as
outlined in the Three Year
Plan

10. Annual independent fiscal audit

N/A

Not Applicable
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11. Fiscal resources sufficient to
deliver and sustain the services

Met

Sufficient funds are
allocated

12. Oversight sufficient to comply with
generally accepted accounting
principles
13. Documentation sufficient to
support invoices

N/A

Not Applicable

Not Met

MHSA is funding nonMHSA authorized program
manager time.

14. Documentation sufficient to
support allowable expenditures

Met

The process has sufficient
quality control to support
expenditures

15. Documentation sufficient to
support expenditures invoiced in
appropriate fiscal year

Met

Documentation supports
that funds are expended in
the appropriate fiscal year

16. Administrative costs sufficiently
justified and appropriate to the
total cost of the program

N/A

The program does not
receive an allocation of
County indirect costs

17. Insurance policies sufficient to
comply with contract

N/A

This is a County program,
and is self-insured

Partially
Met

Semi-regular
communication occurs
between MHSA staff and
program managers

18. Effective communication between
contract manager and contractor

VII.

Review Results.

The review covered the following areas:

1. Deliver services according to the values of the Mental Health Services Act
(California Code of Regulations Section 3320 – MHSA General Standards).
Does the plan element collaborate with the community, provide an integrated
service experience, promote wellness, recovery and resilience, be culturally
competent, and be client and family driven.
Method. Consumer, family member and service provider interviews and
consumer surveys.
Discussion. As mentioned in the program description, the review team focused
on the value of the three MHSA positions that have been incorporated into to the
Miller Wellness Center behavioral health location: two Community Support
Workers, and the Program Manager.
The following table summarizes the consumer survey results. The review team
received a total of 27 surveys. Due to the nature of the urgent care format, it was
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difficult to conduct a face to face consumer interview, and so the review team has
relied on surveys as the primary source of feedback regarding the consumer
experience. These surveys indicate adherence to MHSA values.
Questions

Responses: n=27

Please indicate how strongly you
agree or disagree with the
following statements regarding
persons who work with you:

Strongly Agree
Agree

1. Help me improve my health and
wellness.

Average score: 3.54 (n=26)

2. Allow me to decide what my own
strengths and needs

Average score: 3.49 (n=27)

3. Work with me to determine the
services that are most helpful

Average score: 3.63 (n=27)

4
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Disagree Strongly I don’t
Disagree know
2

1

n/a

4. Provide services that are sensitive Average score: 3.46 (n=24)
to my cultural background.
5. Provide services that are in my
preferred language

Average score: 3.58 (n=26)

6. Help me in getting needed health,
employment, education and other
benefits and services.

Average score: 3.46 (n=22)

7. Are open to my opinions as to
how services should be provided

Average score: 3.53 (n=23)

8. What does this program do well?

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Clean, peaceful environment, prompt. I felt
calm w/(doctor’s) care of my mental health.
Personalize and empathize with me and my
needs. Listen and hear what I'm saying and
needing.
Help you guide your way through a very
difficult time in your life.
Listen to my mother's needs
Help people with comprehensive mental
health & wellness issues
It helped with awesome direction and
resources
Encouragement, find your values
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9. What does this program need to
improve upon?

•
•
•
•
•

Having nicer staff
(Person) who greets us at window was very
abrupt, could improve a lot
Wait time to seeing a doctor.
More funding for programs, classes, events,
therapies for wellness and mental health
issues.
More one to one therapy

10. What needed services and
supports are missing?

•
•

11. How important is this program in
helping you improve your health
and wellness, live a self-directed
life, and reach your full potential?

Very
Important

Important

Somewhat
Important

Not
Important

4

3

2

1

Housing
When we call sometimes it is very hard to
get a hold of someone

Average score: 3.63 (n=27)
12. Any additional comments?

•
•
•

I feel that this program is very helpful to me
because they understand about me having
mental illnesses. It does a wonderful job
I greatly appreciate this clinic and clinic next
door. It makes me feel like I have dignity and
am cared for.
It was a good experience

Staff interviews.
The three staff that were the focus of the review all have either several years of
professional background in mental health, or some kind of personal background
with mental illness and recovery in their lives –personally, or with family
members. These backgrounds fit well with the needs of the roles. The CSW’s
noted that they would share teaching/facilitating responsibilities for weekly WRAP
classes, as well as the one-to-one coaching sessions with the consumers.
While the staff are adept at helping guide their consumers through services and
other referrals, a particular area that was voiced was a desire for stronger
networking connections with county services, such as financial counseling. The
CSW’s find that they currently spend much of their time navigating insurance and
financial issues, as this has been identified as a barrier to continued treatment.
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They find that they struggle with the limitations posed by available staffing time
versus need as well as an inability to flexibly apply resources to the magnitude of
client need. Staff also shared a desire to expand some of the practices that were
previously employed, such as WRAP programs, and other group classes.
Results. The plan element delivers services according to the values of MHSA.
2. Serve the agreed upon target population. For Community Services and
Supports, does the plan element serve adults with a serious mental illness or
children or youth with a serious emotional disturbance. Does the plan element
serve the agreed upon target population (such as age group, underserved
community).
Method. Compare the program description and/or service work plan with a
random sampling of client charts or case files.
Discussion. The target population as stated in the MHSA Three-Year plan is,
“Children and adults who are being diverted from PES, transition from inpatient,
and consumers not yet connected to the outpatient system of care.” Interviews
with Miller Wellness Center and CCRMC staff indicate that this accurately
reflects the population being served at the Center.
Results. The plan element serves the agreed upon population.
3. Provide the services for which funding was allocated. Does the plan
element provide the number and type of services that have been agreed upon.
Method. Compare the service work plan or plan element service goals with
regular reports and match with case file reviews and client/family member and
service provider interviews.
Discussion. Staff interviews and consumer surveys reveal program and staff
activities are consistent with the overall goals of Miller Wellness Center.
However, during the various interviews it was expressed that staff roles are not
clearly defined. This has resulted in tension between the CSW staff and other
behavioral health staff and management. The nature of their duties has morphed
over the past year and many of the tasks and programs that had once been
determined to be beneficial have either disappeared or been replaced by other
tasks.
The Program Manager splits his time among several clinics during the course of
his regular work week. This, combined with staggered shifts, leaves only a few
hours per week to provide supervision and guidance to the CSW staff. Much of
the general supervision has fallen to the on-site clinic manager, who is not the
manager to whom the CSW team reports. This further complicates and blurs the
lines of communication and roles. It is recommended that the Program Manager
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work with the CSW team, the on-site clinic manager, and the rest of the
behavioral health team to establish clear roles, tasks, and procedures for the
CSWs in order to best complement the overall team as well as support the CSW
staff.
Results. Overall the plan element provides the services for which funding was
allocated, with recommendations as noted above.
Please see Appendix A for Program Response

4. Meet the needs of the community and/or population. Is the plan element
meeting the needs of the population/community for which it was designed. Has
the plan element been authorized by the Board of Supervisors as a result of a
community program planning process. Is the plan element consistent with the
MHSA Three Year Program and Expenditure Plan.
Method. Research the authorization and inception of the program for adherence
to the Community Program Planning Process. Match the service work plan or
program description with the Three Year Plan. Compare with consumer/family
member and service provider interviews. Review client surveys.
Discussion. The services provided by the Miller Wellness Center are consistent
with the Three Year Plan. The positions have been vetted through the plan
update process, and authorized by the Board of Supervisors. Interviews and
surveys indicate existing staff are performing duties consistent with what was
authorized.
Results. The plan element meets the needs of the community.
5. Serve the number of individuals that have been agreed upon. Has the plan
element been serving the number of individuals specified in the program
description/service work plan, and how has the number served been trending the
last three years.
Method. Match program description/service work plan with history of monthly
reports and verify with supporting documentation, such as logs, sign-in sheets
and case files.
Discussion. There are no specified numbers of individuals to be served by the
Community Support Workers assigned to the Miller Wellness Center.
Results. The Miller Wellness Center needs to define the number of individuals
to be served by the CSWs assigned to the Center.
Please see Appendix A for Program Response
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6. Achieve the outcomes that have been agreed upon. Is the plan element
meeting the agreed upon outcome goals, and how has the outcomes been
trending.
Method. Match outcomes reported for the last three years with outcomes
projected in the program description/service work plan, and verify validity of
outcome with supporting documentation, such as case files or charts. Outcome
domains include, as appropriate, incidence of restriction, incidence of psychiatric
crisis, meaningful activity, psychiatric symptoms, consumer satisfaction/quality of
life, and cost effectiveness. Analyze the level of success by the context, as
appropriate, of pre- and post-intervention, control versus experimental group,
year-to-year difference, comparison with similar programs, or measurement to a
generally accepted standard.
Discussion. To date, this plan element has not established measureable
outcome goals or performance measures.
Results. The plan element needs to define outcome measures.
Please see Appendix A for Program Response

7. Quality Assurance. How does the plan element assure quality of service
provision.
Method. Review and report on results of participation in County’s utilization
review, quality management incidence reporting, and other appropriate means of
quality of service review.
Discussion. Grievances for Miller Wellness Center are centralized under the
CCRMC Patient-Family Advisory Council, and are not separated out by area of
practice, such as behavioral health or primary care. However, a review of the
grievance policies and procedures indicates timeliness and care in investigation
of complaints and prompt responses or resolutions.
Results. Quality of services is monitored. The program provides quality services
as evidenced by the above, and has a clear quality assurance process in place.
8. Ensure protection of confidentiality of protected health information. What
protocols are in place to comply with the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Assurance (HIPAA) Act, and how well does staff comply with the
protocol.
Method. Match the HIPAA Business Associate service contract attachment with
the observed implementation of the plan element’s implementation of a protocol
for safeguarding protected patient health information.
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Discussion. Staff observe HIPAA requirements. All staff are required to
complete HIPAA training on an annual basis. The County also has a Privacy
Officer in charge of protecting client information.
Results. Miller Wellness Center ensures the protection of confidential protected
health information.
9. Staffing sufficient for the plan element. Is there sufficient dedicated staff to
deliver the services, evaluate the plan element for sufficiency of outcomes and
continuous quality improvement, and provide sufficient administrative support.
Method. Match history of plan element response with organization chart, staff
interviews and duty statements.
Discussion. Positions for which funding was allocated are filled.
Results. There is sufficient staffing for the program.
10. Annual independent fiscal audit. Did the organization have an annual
independent fiscal audit performed and did the independent auditors issue any
findings?
Method. Obtain and review audited financial statements. If applicable, discuss
any findings or concerns identified by auditors with fiscal manager.
Discussion. The plan element is County operated and does not conduct an
annual financial audit.
Results. Not applicable.
11. Fiscal resources sufficient to deliver and sustain the services. Does the
plan element have diversified revenue sources, adequate cash flow, sufficient
coverage of liabilities, and qualified fiscal management to sustain the plan
element?
Method. Review financial reports.
Discussion. The plan element has been authorized by the County. The current
Three-Year Plan allocates sufficient funding to field the three positions authorized
to support behavioral health services that are offered at the Miller Wellness
Center.
Results. Sufficient funds are allocated to fully support the three positions
assigned to the Miller Wellness Center.
12. Oversight sufficient to comply with generally accepted accounting
principles. Does organization have appropriate qualified staff and internal
controls to assure compliance with generally accepted accounting principles?
Method. Interview with fiscal manager of plan element.
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Discussion. The plan element is part of the County and complies with generally
accepted accounting principles.
Results. Not applicable.
13. Documentation sufficient to support invoices. Do the organization’s financial
reports support monthly invoices charged to the plan element and ensure no
duplicate billing?
Method. Reconcile financial system with monthly invoices. Interview fiscal
manager of program.
Discussion. As noted previously the Program Manager splits his time between
the Miller Wellness Center and several other clinics in the County. Thus, by his
report only 10 to 25 % of his time is spent supervising at the Center. However,
County Finance expenditure reports indicate MHSA is funding 100% of his
salary.
Results. MHSA is funding the entirety of the Program Manager position costs,
while the majority of the position is being utilized in non-MHSA authorized
activities.
Please see Appendix A for Program Response

14. Documentation sufficient to support allowable expenditures. Does the
organization have sufficient supporting documentation (payroll records and
timecards, receipts, allocation bases/statistics) to support program personnel and
operating expenditures charged to the plan element?
Method. Match one month of supporting documentation (MHSA Monthly Budget
Report) for identification of personnel costs and operating expenditures charged
to the cost center.
Discussion. Documentation shows that three behavioral health positions are
charged against the CSS cost center.
Results. Documentation maintained by the County supports the personnel costs
charged to the plan element.
15. Documentation sufficient to support expenditures invoiced in appropriate
fiscal year. Do organization’s financial system year end closing entries support
expenditures invoiced in appropriate fiscal year (i.e., fiscal year in which
expenditures were incurred regardless of when cash flows)?
Method. Reconcile year end closing entries in financial system with invoices.
Interview fiscal manager of plan element.
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Discussion. The plan element is part of the County and by definition complies
with the accrual basis of accounting.
Results. There is sufficient documentation to support expenditures charged to
the appropriate year.
16. Administrative costs sufficiently justified and appropriate to the total cost
of the program. Is the program’s allocation of administrative/indirect costs to
the plan element commensurate with the benefit received by the plan element?
Method. Review methodology and statistics used to allocate
administrative/indirect costs. Interview fiscal manager of plan element.
Discussion. The County has opted not to charge any indirect cost to the plan
element.
Results. No indirect costs have been charged to the plan element.
17. Insurance policies sufficient to comply with contract. Does the organization
have insurance policies in effect that are consistent with the requirements of the
contract.
Method. Review insurance policies.
Discussion. The plan element is part of the County and is not subject to
maintaining separate insurance policies.
Results. Not applicable.
18. Effective communication between contract manager and contractor. Do
both the contract manager and contractor staff communicate routinely and clearly
regarding program activities, and any program or fiscal issues as they arise.
Method. Interview contract manager and contractor staff.
Discussion. There is semi-regular communication between the MHSA Analyst
and Miller Wellness Center staff regarding activities specific to MHSA.
Nonetheless, more communication is needed to establish targets and outcome
goals for the CSW program. Moreover, Miller Wellness Center serves many
clients who may be diverting or discharging from PES, are uninsured, or needing
service due to wait times at regular clinics. There is an opportunity for much
more streamlined communication between all these systems and the Center.
Results. There should be regular communication between the MHSA Analyst
and Miller Wellness Center staff regarding MHSA funded programs in order to
identify targets and outcome measures.
Please see Appendix A for Program Response
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VIII.

IX.

Summary of Results.
The Miller Wellness Center’s behavioral health services team provides urgent
care, recovery-oriented outreach and engagement, mental health, and support
services to a variety of consumers in Contra Costa County. The program is
appropriately staffed and the program’s mission and practices are consistent with
the principles of the MHSA. Clients fully endorsed the positive impact the
programs have had on their health and wellbeing.

Findings for Further Attention.
•

It is recommended that the Program Manager work with the CSW team,
the on-site clinic manager, and the rest of the behavioral health services
team to establish clear roles, tasks, and procedures for the CSWs in order
to best complement the overall team and to better support the CSW staff.

•

Annual service targets and performance indicators are needed, with a
means to gather and report upon these measures.

•

MHSA is funding the entirety of the Program Manager position costs, while
the majority of the position is being utilized in non-MHSA authorized
activities.

X.

Next Review Date. March 2020

XI.

Appendices.

Appendix A – Program Response
Appendix B – Program Profile

XII.

Working Documents that Support Findings.

Staff/Provider Interviews
Consumer, Family Member Surveys
County MHSA Monthly Financial Report
Progress Reports, Outcomes
MHSA Three Year Plan and Update(s)
12

APPENDIX A
Program Response to Review
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WILLIAM B. WALKER, M.D.

CONTRA COSTA REGIONAL
MEDICAL CENTER & CLINICS

HEALTH SERVICES DIRECTOR

2500 Alhambra Ave
Martinez, CA 94553
Ph (925) 370-5000

Date: August 28, 2017
To: Stephanie Chenard and Warren Hayes
From: Mariana Noy, Mental Health Chief, Outpatient Social Services
Subject: MHSA Program and Fiscal Review Response
This memo is being issued in response to on-site review of George & Cynthia Miller Wellness Center (MWC) that occurred on
February 24, 2017 and March 20, 2017. This response will address the two “partially met” and three “unmet” findings, in hopes of
improving patient care and wellness as intended by MHSA.
3. Provide the services which funding was allocated – partially met. The report indicated that staff roles are not clearly defined and
that the Program Manager work with the CSW team to establish clear roles. In July 2017 MWC management introduced
Behaviorist Triage decision tree to help guide decisions and Behaviorist Standard Work Instructions. Management has also started
partnering with Community Support Workers (CSW) to work on draft Standard Work Instructions. We have trained CSW’s on
Health Leads Reach application which is a social needs resource tracks successful community connections. Also, CSW’s involved
in Behavioral Health integration improvement project where they had added significant value. Overall, the goal is to define CSW
role into addressing social needs and partners in improvement.
5. Serve the number of individuals that have been agreed upon – unmet. MWC management is committed to working together with
Behavioral Health division and consumers to define the number of individuals served by the CSWs, so that this finding is
adequately addressed on the next report.
6. Achieve the outcomes that have been agreed upon – unmet. MWC management is committed to working together with
Behavioral Health Division and consumers to define performance measures for CSWs, so that this finding is adequately addressed
on the next report.
13. Document sufficient to support invoices – not met. The report indicates that the Program Manager who is funded 100% by
MHSA only spends 10 to 25 % of his time supervising MWC program. Starting September 1, 2017 the MHSA funded Program
Manager will only supervise programs that are MHSA-funded and Behavioral Health focused, which includes MWC and
embedded Behaviorist in primary care.
18. Effective communication between contract manager and contractor – partially met. MWC Management and MHSA Analyst
have agreed to have quarterly meetings to identify targets and outcome measures.
In conclusion, Contra Costa Regional Medical Center and Clinics is honored to have our own peer workforce dedicated to
recovery principles and improvement. We appreciate the opportunity to review MWC service delivery and discussion around
improvement.

Contra Costa Alcohol and Other Drugs Services ● Contra Costa Emergency Medical Services ● Contra Costa Environmental Health ● Contra Costa Health Plan
Contra Costa Hazardous Materials ● Contra Costa Mental Health ● Contra Costa Public Health ● Contra Costa Regional Medical Center ● Contra Costa Health Ctrs

APPENDIX B
Program Profile

George and Cynthia Miller Wellness Center
(Behavioral Health)
Point of Contact: Thomas Tighe, Mental Health Program Manager
Contact Information: 25 Allen Street, Martinez CA 94553.
(925) 890-5932 Thomas.Tighe@hsd.cccounty.us
1. General Description of the Organization
The Behavioral Health Services Division of Contra Costa Health Services combines
Mental Health, Alcohol & Other Drugs and Homeless Program into a single system
of care. The George and Cynthia Miller Wellness Center is a Federally Qualified
Health Center under the Contra Costa Health Services Hospital and Clinics Division.
2. Program: George and Cynthia Miller Wellness Center (Formerly the
Assessment and Recovery Center)
The George and Cynthia Miller Wellness Center (Miller Wellness Center) provides a
number of services to the Contra Costa Behavioral Health Services’ system of care
consumers that includes the diversion of children and adults from Psychiatric
Emergency Services (PES). Children and adults who are evaluated at PES may
step-down to the Miller Wellness Center if they do not need hospital level of care.
The Miller Wellness Center offers urgent same-day appointments for individuals who
are not open to the Contra Costa Mental Health System, or who have disconnected
from care after previously being seen. Services include brief family therapy,
medication refills, substance abuse counseling, and general non-acute assistance.
In addition, the Center provides appointments for patients post psychiatric inpatient
discharge. This provides the opportunity for a successful transition that ensures that
medications are obtained and appointments are scheduled in the home clinic. The
behavioral health service site is located in a Federally Qualified Health Center with
separate entrances from the physical health side.
a. Target Population: Children and adults who are being diverted from PES,
transition from inpatient, and consumers not yet connected to the outpatient
system of care.
b. Total Budget: $319,819
c. Staff funded through MHSA: 3 FTE – A Program Manager, and two
Community Support Workers.
d. Number Served: To Be Determined
e. Outcomes: To Be Determined
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Mental Health Services Act (MHSA)
Program and Fiscal Review

I.

Date of On-site Review: May 26, 2017
Date of Exit Meeting: October 19, 2017

II.

Review Team: Stephanie Chenard, Windy Murphy

III.

Name of Program:

IV.

Program Description. Putnam Clubhouse provides a safe, welcoming place
where participants (called members) who are recovering from mental illness build
on personal strengths instead of focusing on illness. Members work as
colleagues with peers and a small staff to maintain recovery and prevent relapse
through work and work-mediated relationships. Members learn vocational and
social skills while doing everything involved in running the Clubhouse.

Putnam Clubhouse
3024 Willow Pass Road, Suite #230
Concord, CA 94519

Putnam Clubhouse’s peer-based programming helps adults recovering from
psychiatric disorders access support networks, social opportunities, wellness
tools, employment, housing, and health services. The work-ordered day program
helps members gain pre-vocational, social, and healthy living skills as well as
access vocational options within Contra Costa County. The Clubhouse teaches
skills needed for navigating/accessing the system of care, helps members set
goals (including educational, vocational, and wellness), provides opportunities to
become involved in stigma reduction and advocacy. Ongoing community
outreach is provided throughout the County via presentations and by distributing
materials, including a brochure in both English and Spanish. The Clubhouse
hosts Career Corner, an online career resource blog for mental health
consumers in Contra Costa. The Young Adult Initiative provides weekly activities
and programming planned by younger adult members to attract and retain
younger adult members in the under-30 age group. Putnam Clubhouse helps
increase family wellness and reduces stress related to caregiving by providing
respite through Clubhouse programming and by helping Clubhouse members
improve their independence.
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V.

Purpose of Review. Contra Costa Behavioral Health Services (CCBHS) is
committed to evaluating the effective use of funds provided by the Mental Health
Services Act. Toward this end a comprehensive program and fiscal review was
conducted of the above program. The results of this review are contained herein,
and will assist in a) improving the services and supports that are provided, b)
more efficiently support the County’s MHSA Three Year Program and
Expenditure Plan, and c) ensure compliance with statute, regulations and policy.
In the spirit of continually working toward better services we most appreciate this
opportunity to collaborate together with the staff and clients participating in this
program in order to review past and current efforts, and plan for the future.

VI.

Summary of Findings.
Topic
1. Deliver services according to the
values of the MHSA

Met
Standard
Met

Notes
Consumers and family
members indicate the
program meets the values
of MHSA

2. Serve the agreed upon target
population.

Met

Program improves timely
access to the target
population.

3. Provide the services for which
funding was allocated.

Met

Funds services consistent
with the agreed upon
Service Work Plan.

4. Meet the needs of the community
and/or population.

Met

Services are consistent
with the Three Year Plan

5. Serve the number of individuals
that have been agreed upon.

Met

Target service numbers
are reached.

6. Achieve the outcomes that have
been agreed upon.

Met

Program meets its
outcomes

7. Quality Assurance

Met

Client and staff interviews
attest to high standards of
care.

Partially
Met

Program should add an
extra level of security to
storage of member intake
forms.

8. Ensure protection of confidentiality
of protected health information.
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VII.

9. Staffing sufficient for the program

Met

Staffing level supports
targeted service numbers.

10. Annual independent fiscal audit

Met

No material or significant
weaknesses were noted
for FY 14/15. Awaiting
2016 external audit.

11. Fiscal resources sufficient to
deliver and sustain the services

Met

The Putnam Clubhouse
has significant net assets
to withstand significant
revenue interruptions.

12. Oversight sufficient to comply with
generally accepted accounting
principles

Met

Experienced staff
implement sound check
and balance system.

13. Documentation sufficient to
support invoices

Met

Uses established software
program with appropriate
supporting documentation
protocol.

14. Documentation sufficient to
support allowable expenditures

Met

Method of accounting for
personnel time and
operating costs appear to
be supported.

15. Documentation sufficient to
support expenditures invoiced in
appropriate fiscal year

Met

No billings noted for
previous fiscal year
expenses.

16. Administrative costs sufficiently
justified and appropriate to the
total cost of the program
17. Insurance policies sufficient to
comply with contract

Met

All Indirect charged to
program costs.

Met

Necessary insurance is in
place

18. Effective communication between
contract manager and contractor

Met

The County and program
meet regularly.

Review Results.

The review covered the following areas:

1. Deliver services according to the values of the Mental Health Services Act
(California Code of Regulations Section 3320 – MHSA General Standards).
Does the program collaborate with the community, provide an integrated service
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experience, promote wellness, recovery and resilience, be culturally competent,
and be client and family driven.
Method. Consumer, family member and service provider interviews and
consumer surveys.
Discussion.
Survey Results
We received 78 responses to the survey. The majority of the survey responses
were consistent with consumer interviews; namely, they show a positive
evaluation of the program; and that the program adheres to MHSA values.

Questions
Please indicate how strongly you
agree or disagree with the
following statements regarding
persons who work with you:
1. Help me improve my health and
wellness.
2. Allow me to decide what my own
strengths and needs
3. Work with me to determine the
services that are most helpful
4. Provide services that are sensitive
to my cultural background.
5. Provide services that are in my
preferred language
6. Help me in getting needed health,
employment, education and other
benefits and services.
7. Are open to my opinions as to
how services should be provided
8. What does this program do well?

Responses: n=78
Strongly Agree Disagree Strongly I don’t
Agree
Disagree know
4
3
2
1
n/a
Average score: 3.50 (n=73)
Average score: 3.38 (n=75)
Average score: 3.32 (n=76)
Average score: 3.31 (n=62)
Average score: 3.62 (n=73)
Average score: 3.34 (n=74)

Average score: 3.35 (n=75)
•
•
•
•
•
•

Engaging & welcoming members, Helping
members identify & utilize strengths
Helps me learn new social skills, and
improve those I already have.
The program really provides great food and
entertainment.
It provides a structured work ordered day. It
helps keep people busy and not focused on
their individual mental illness.
This program helps you to find your true self.
Keeps me out of isolation
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•
•
•
•
•
•

9. What does this program need to
improve upon?

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Providing mental health education and
services that help me be mentally prepared
for today
Inclusive
Provide members tools to reunite to the
outside world.
Provides a base and place to make friends
who also go through hard times & tough life.
They provide wellness advocacy skills and
chances to get included in mindful activities
Creates an environment of dignity and
respect
Family involvement
A wider variety of choices in the workordered day.
The program needs to be a little bit more
flexible about incorporating new ideas.
Journaling should be made into an hour long
program.
Respect for others
Being friendly
Providing more employment/volunteer
opportunities
More social recreational activities and
outings on weekends, and less work ordered
day.
Equal playing field with members and staff.
Empowering members to be responsible.
Not being so stern when talking to mentally
ill person
I think the program needs to develop better
measures for when incidents happen, such
as when someone gets comments and
therefore afraid to come back to the
program.
Rest areas-showers-wifi
Possibly a counseling service nearby
(walking distance or close for free
counseling) since clubhouse rules don't
allow mental health counseling.
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10. What needed services and
supports are missing?

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

More access to transportation support.
When the clubhouse is full, more computers
and work areas to help assign work to the
members on that day.
Bike racks
There needs to be more supports in
hospitality. Lunches need to be improved to
involve a healthier diet and more variety.
Needs more space
More art classes
We need to make the clubhouse more
accessible to people in wheel chairs or
walkers or canes.
More sports activities
Email list serve that connects members to
employment opportunities.
Job opportunities and family crisis support

11. How important is this program in
helping you improve your health
and wellness, live a self-directed
life, and reach your full potential?

Very
Important Somewhat
Important
Important
4
3
2
Average score: 3.41 (n=77)

12. Any additional comments?

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Not
Important
1

This is a great program.
Since joining my life has regained a sense of
hope.
I think the clubhouse provides a great
service and has helped me improve my
quality of life.
I am just glad with how far I have come in
the time I have been here.
Putnam has made me comfortable in my
own skin. I enjoy coming here and
socializing with others like me.
Putnam services have been great in helping
improve how I feel about life. I feel great and
more confident than ever.
We thank you.
A great place with great help and great
people.
The clubhouse is too much like coming to a
job. There should be more fun, social and
classes.
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•

•

•

Coming to the clubhouse is the biggest
highlight of my day. I feel like I can be myself
and most importantly, I feel accepted and
understood and see my own potential. My
worth along with my personal growth and
tolerance of being around people.
Yes, I was helped out immensely when I was
having a manic episode. I was listened to for
maybe 1.5 hours before getting professional
psychiatric help.
I love you all.

Consumer Interview
The consumer and family member interview session was attended by
approximately 30-35 consumers and family members of mixed genders,
ethnicities, and ages, all of whom engage in various levels of the services that
Putnam Clubhouse provides. The individuals’ experience with Putnam ranged
from a few months up to 9-1/2 years. Consumers who become “members” of the
Clubhouse were referred to Putnam Clubhouse through a variety of sources
including: family members, NAMI, the County Adult Mental Health Clinics,
community events, individual therapists or doctors, case workers, and some by
friends.
Overall, the interview participants were very appreciative of the services provided
by Putnam Clubhouse and most reported that staff are very responsive to their
needs. During the interviews, things that members specifically identified as
positives of the program were:
• Staff that are supportive and passionate;
• A place where they felt welcome, secure, and safe;
• Being able to develop friends and a social support network
o Peer support and relationship-building through the program was
highlighted by most members as a key element to their success
o One member noted, “I don’t feel like I have a mental illness when I’m
here,” and, “I like feeling ordinary.”
• Outreach to members who have not attended for awhile makes people feel
needed and less isolated;
• Family events help include and involve families in the member’s recovery;
helped family members be more accepting of members’ mental illnesses, and
assisted with family communication to develop better coping skills;

7

•
•

Focus on strengths, rather than illness or treatment;
Developing real and practical skills towards independent living.

These positives speak squarely to the MHSA values. However, there were also
some areas identified by the Citizens for improvement. Some of these issues
were:
• Transportation was a challenge for several participants;
• A desire for more outreach in the community to inform people about the
program;
• Additional afternoon or weekend programing;
• Wider variety in class offerings (suggestions included more focus on arts,
crafts, and creative writing);
• More family events outside of holiday celebrations.
Staff Interview:
Seven line staff members were interviewed in a group session. The staff
participants shared many positive attributes about the program, such as: the
program being very member-driven and able to adapt to current and changing
needs of the membership body; focus on individual strengths (not treatment or
illness) to help reduce stigma of mental illness; working to include underserved
populations; helping to build autonomy for members – people learning to do
things for themselves.
Staff also identified several areas of improvement. The limited space in the
program has presented challenges to a growing member population. Staff also
mentioned transportation challenges within the County as a barrier to serving
people who want to engage in services. They also indicated that the lack of
resources, such as housing, dental, and other specialty needs are difficult in
helping members fully realize their goal of job placement and independence.
Putnam strives to be a supportive community where individuals and families
learn how to manage their challenges, and serve as a provider of direct early
intervention services.
Results. Putnam Clubhouse implements services according to the values of the
Mental Health Services Act.
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2. Serve the agreed upon target population. For Prevention and Early
Intervention, does the program serve individuals and families who are at risk for
developing a serious mental illness or serious emotional disturbance. Does the
program serve the agreed upon target population (such as age group,
underserved community).
Method. Compare the program description and/or service work plan with a
random sampling of client charts or case files.
Discussion. Putnam Clubhouse serves Contra Costa County residents with
identified mental illness and their families. The program requires a referral from
a treating clinician to verify eligibility.
Results. The program serves the agreed upon population.
3. Provide the services for which funding was allocated. Does the program
provide the number and type of services that have been agreed upon.
Method. Compare the service work plan or program service goals with regular
reports and match with case file reviews and client/family member and service
provider interviews.
Discussion. Monthly service summaries as well as semi-annual reports show
that the program is providing peer-based relapse prevention programming
through the standards of Clubhouse International, the SAMHSA-endorsed,
evidence-based recovery model, including:
• Work-ordered day programming
• Career development services
• On-site life skill, recreational, and respite services
• Limited transportation services
• Member outreach
• Young adult initiative
• Community outreach programs
Results. The program provides the services for which funding was allocated.
4. Meet the needs of the community and/or population. Is the program meeting
the needs of the population/community for which it was designed. Has the
program been authorized by the Board of Supervisors as a result of a community
program planning process. Is the program consistent with the MHSA Three Year
Program and Expenditure Plan.
Method. Research the authorization and inception of the program for adherence
to the Community Program Planning Process. Match the service work plan or
program description with the Three Year Plan. Compare with consumer/family
member and service provider interviews. Review client surveys.
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Discussion. Programming for Building Connection in Underserved Cultural
Communities was included in the original PEI plan that was approved in May
2009 and included in subsequent plan updates. The program has been
authorized by the Board of Supervisors and is consistent with the current MHSA
Three-Year Program and Expenditure Plan as well as the proposed PEI
regulations on prevention programs. Programs and strategies pursue timely
access to mental health services and linkages for individuals and families from
underserved populations. Interviews with service providers and program
participants support the notion that the program meets its goals and the needs of
the community it serves.
Results. The program meets the needs of the community and the population for
which it is designated.
5. Serve the number of individuals that have been agreed upon. Has the
program been serving the number of individuals specified in the program
description/service work plan, and how has the number served been trending the
last three years.
Method. Match program description/service work plan with history of monthly
reports and verify with supporting documentation, such as logs, sign-in sheets
and case files.
Discussion. The program’s target service numbers as detailed in the Service
Work Plan of their contract is to provide prevention and early intervention
services for 300 families (members & caregivers). Over the past three years, the
program has often served close to their target, and at times, exceeded their
target numbers.
Results. The program serves the number of people that have been agreed
upon, and at times exceeds the target enrollment number.
6. Achieve the outcomes that have been agreed upon. Is the program meeting
the agreed upon outcome goals, and how has the outcomes been trending.
Method. Match outcomes reported for the last three years with outcomes
projected in the program description/service work plan, and verify validity of
outcome with supporting documentation, such as case files or charts. Outcome
domains include, as appropriate, incidence of restriction, incidence of psychiatric
crisis, meaningful activity, psychiatric symptoms, consumer satisfaction/quality of
life, and cost effectiveness. Analyze the level of success by the context, as
appropriate, of pre- and post-intervention, control versus experimental group,
year-to-year difference, comparison with similar programs, or measurement to a
generally accepted standard.
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Discussion. Putnam Clubhouse has a few well-defined program objectives as
part of the service work plan that include: preventing relapse of individuals in
recovery and increase protective factors by:
• Providing comprehensive peer-based programming that helps members
develop and access the support networks, health services, vocational skills,
social opportunities, wellness tools, and self-confidence needed to sustain
stable, productive, and more independent lives.
• Enhancing overall family well-being through Clubhouse participation such that
stress related to caregiving is reduced.
The program has provided an annual report summarizing their progress towards
meeting their program outcomes.
Results. Overall, the program achieves its primary objectives.
7. Quality Assurance. How does the program assure quality of service provision.
Method. Review and report on results of participation in County’s utilization
review, quality management incidence reporting, and other appropriate means of
quality of service review.
Discussion. One grievance was filed against Putnam Clubhouse in the last
three years; however, it was investigated and quickly resolved. The program has
an internal grievance policy in place. Since the program does not provide billable
services, it not subject to utilization review.
Results. Quality of services is monitored. The program provides quality services
as evidenced by the above. The program has a quality assurance process in
place.
8. Ensure protection of confidentiality of protected health information. What
protocols are in place to comply with the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Assurance (HIPAA) Act, and how well does staff comply with the
protocol.
Method. Match the HIPAA Business Associate service contract attachment with
the observed implementation of the program’s implementation of a protocol for
safeguarding protected patient health information.
Discussion. The program does not provide direct clinical services and thus
does not generally keep clinical documentation onsite. The program does,
however, keep new member enrollment files on individual clients, which includes
diagnostic information from treating clinicians. The files are kept on a secure
server and in a locked office; however, many of these forms are kept in
document boxes. It is recommended that Putnam store these intake enrollment
forms in a locked cabinet in a locked office to ensure proper confidential
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protection of members’ diagnostic information. Program participants are
informed about their privacy rights and rules of confidentiality.
Results. Putnam maintains necessary privacy policies and procedures, with
recommendations as noted.
9. Staffing sufficient for the program. Is there sufficient dedicated staff to deliver
the services, evaluate the program for sufficiency of outcomes and continuous
quality improvement, and provide sufficient administrative support.
Method. Match history of program response with organization chart, staff
interviews and duty statements.
Discussion. Putnam Clubhouse has an organizational structure of filled
positions indicating a sufficient number and type of staff to support their
operations. The experience level of the Putnam Clubhouse staff varied from
years of experience in mental health to this being their first position in a mentalhealth related role. Clubhouse International has a substantial training program,
and is still aiming to identify and address a variety of mental health issues in their
training process.
Results. Sufficient staffing has been in place to serve the number of clients
outlined in the most recent Service Work Plans.
10. Annual independent fiscal audit. Did the organization have an annual
independent fiscal audit performed and did the independent auditors issue any
findings.
Method. Obtain and review audited financial statements. If applicable, discuss
any findings or concerns identified by auditors with fiscal manager.
Discussion. The Contra Costa Clubhouses, Inc. is a nonprofit corporation
formed by concerned community members for the purpose of serving Contra
Costa County residents recovering from severe mental illness. The organization
is committed to providing social and vocational rehabilitation programs using the
model of Clubhouse International, formerly the International Center for
Clubhouse Development (ICCD). The Contra Costa Clubhouses, Inc. fills critical
gaps in Contra Costa County’s continuum of care for adults with severe mental
illness through operating Putnam Clubhouse, an evidence-based, peer support,
and cost-effect social and vocational intervention. The organization has a total
operating budget of $804,000 with its primary source of income being its annual
MHSA funded CCBHS contract of $549,402. Following an extensive multi-year
review conducted by Clubhouse International, in May of 2011 the Organization
was awarded its first three year accreditation. Accreditation involved a
comprehensive evaluation in terms of fidelity to 36 international standards
established for clubhouse programs.
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Results. Annual independent fiscal audits for FY 2013-14 and 14-15 were
provided and reviewed but the fiscal audit for FY 2016 hasn’t been received yet.
No material or significant findings were noted.
11. Fiscal resources sufficient to deliver and sustain the services. Does
organization have diversified revenue sources, adequate cash flow, sufficient
coverage of liabilities, and qualified fiscal management to sustain program.
Method. Review audited financial statements and Board of Directors meeting
minutes. Interview fiscal manager of program.
Discussion. The organization appears to be operating within the budget
constraints provided by their authorized contract amount, and thus appears to be
able to sustain their stated costs of delivering PEI services for the entirety of the
fiscal year. There were no issues identified in the Board of Directors minutes
related to the program or organization’s fiscal position indicated their operating
cash balance is sufficient and that they have a daily process to track cash flows.
Results. Fiscal resources are currently sufficient to deliver and sustain services.
12. Oversight sufficient to comply with generally accepted accounting
principles. Does organization have appropriate qualified staff and internal
controls to assure compliance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Method. Interview with fiscal manager.
Discussion. The Executive Director, Molly Hamaker, and Putnam Clubhouse
Director, Tamara Hunter, were interviewed. Both maintain that there is a
segregation of financial duties and that a hired CPA firm that specializes in nonprofit reviews books annually. Also, a bookkeeper and Certified Public
Accountant (CPA) provide a two person check and balance system. Established
protocols are in place to enable a check and balance system to assure
compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. The organization
uses QuickBooks Desktop Pro to track personnel time entry and aggregation to
enable accurate summaries for billing and payment.
Results. Sufficient oversight exists to enable compliance with generally
accepted accounting principles.
13. Documentation sufficient to support invoices. Do the organization’s financial
reports support monthly invoices charged to the program and ensure no
duplicate billing.
Method. Reconcile financial system with monthly invoices. Interview fiscal
manager of program.
Discussion. A randomly selected invoice for each of the last three years was
matched with supporting documentation provided by the agency. A clear and
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accurate connection was established between documented hours worked and
submitted invoices.
Results. Uses established software program with appropriate supporting
documentation protocol.
14. Documentation sufficient to support allowable expenditures. Does
organization have sufficient supporting documentation (payroll records and
timecards, receipts, allocation bases/statistics) to support program personnel and
operating expenditures charged to the program.
Method. Match random sample of one month of supporting documentation for
each fiscal year (up to three years) for identification of personnel costs and
operating expenditures invoiced to the county.
Discussion. Line item personnel and operating costs were reviewed for
appropriateness. All line items submitted were consistent with line items that are
appropriate to support the service delivery.
Results. Method of allocation of percentage of personnel time and operating
costs appear to be justified and documented.
15. Documentation sufficient to support expenditures invoiced in appropriate
fiscal year. Do organization’s financial system year end closing entries support
expenditures invoiced in appropriate fiscal year (i.e., fiscal year in which
expenditures were incurred regardless of when cash flows).
Method. Reconcile year end closing entries in financial system with invoices.
Interview fiscal manager of program.
Discussion. Total contract billing was within contract limits, with no billing by
this agency for expenses incurred and paid in a previous fiscal year.
Results. Putnam appears to be implementing an appropriate year end closing
system.
16. Administrative costs sufficiently justified and appropriate to the total cost
of the program. Is the organization’s allocation of administrative/indirect costs
to the program commensurate with the benefit received by the program.
Method. Review methodology and statistics used to allocate
administrative/indirect costs. Interview fiscal manager of program.
Discussion. There are no indirect costs associated with this contract.
Results. All allowable costs are captured in a specific budget line item within the
Program cost category.
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17. Insurance policies sufficient to comply with contract. Does the organization
have insurance policies in effect that are consistent with the requirements of the
contract.
Method. Review insurance policies.
Discussion. The program provided general liability insurance policies that were
in effect at the time of the site visit.
Results. The program complies with the contract insurance requirements.
18. Effective communication between contract manager and contractor. Do
both the contract manager and contractor staff communicate routinely and clearly
regarding program activities, and any program or fiscal issues as they arise.
Method. Interview contract manager and contractor staff.
Results. Program staff and county communicate regularly and in recent months
increasingly to discuss outcomes and reporting requirements.
Discussion. The program has good communication with the contract manager.

VIII.

Summary of Results.
Putnam Clubhouse is committed to delivering prevention services through peerbased programming that focuses on promoting access to support networks,
social opportunities, wellness tools, employment, housing, and health services.
The Putnam Clubhouse program adheres to the values of MHSA and serving
their target population. The program is meeting the outcomes detailed in their
contract. Putnam appears to be a financially sound organization that follows
generally accepted accounting principles, and maintains documentation that
supports agreed upon service expenditures. Issues for attention pertain primarily
to tightening privacy of storage of files.

IX.

Findings for Further Attention.
•

X.

It is recommended that Putnam store member intake enrollment forms in a
locked cabinet in a locked office to ensure proper confidential protection of
members’ diagnostic information.

Next Review Date. May 2020

15

XI.

Appendices.

Appendix A – Program Description/Service Work Plan
Appendix B – Service Provider Budget
Appendix C – Yearly External Fiscal Audit
Appendix D – Organization Chart

XII.

Working Documents that Support Findings.

Consumer Listing
Consumer, Family Member Surveys
Consumer, Family Member, Provider Interviews
County MHSA Monthly Financial Report
Progress Reports, Outcomes
Monthly Invoices with Supporting Documentation
Indirect Cost Allocation Methodology/Plan
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes
Insurance Policies
MHSA Three Year Plan and Update(s)

16

Appendix A
Putman Clubhouse
Point of Contact: Tamara Hunter, Clubhouse Director;
Molly Hamaker, Executive Director
Contact Information: 3024 Willow Pass Rd #230, Concord CA 94519; 925-6914276; www.putnamclubhouse.org; Tamara: 510-9260474, tamara@putnamclubhouse.org; Molly: 925-7086488, molly@putnamclubhouse.org
1. General Description of the Organization
Putnam Clubhouse provides a safe, welcoming place, where participants (called
members), recovering from mental illness, build on personal strengths instead of
focusing on illness. Members work as colleagues with peers and a small staff to
maintain recovery and prevent relapse through work and work-mediated
relationships. Members learn vocational and social skills while doing everything
involved in running The Clubhouse.
2. Program: Preventing Relapse of Individuals in Recovery - PEI
a. Scope of Services:
i.
Project Area A: Putnam Clubhouse’s peer-based programming helps
adults recovering from psychiatric disorders access support networks,
social opportunities, wellness tools, employment, housing, and health
services. The work-ordered day program helps members gain
prevocational, social, and healthy living skills as well as access vocational
options within Contra Costa. The Clubhouse teaches skills needed for
navigating/accessing the system of care, helps members set goals
(including educational, vocational, and wellness), provides opportunities to
become involved in stigma reduction and advocacy. Ongoing community
outreach is provided throughout the County via presentations and by
distributing materials, including a brochure in both English and Spanish.
The Clubhouse hosts Career Corner, an online career resource blog for
mental health consumers in Contra Costa. The Young Adult Initiative
provides weekly activities and programming planned by younger adult
members to attract and retain younger adult members in the under-30 age
group. Putnam Clubhouse helps increase family wellness and reduces
stress related to caregiving by providing respite through Clubhouse
programming and by helping Clubhouse members improve their
independence.

ii.

iii.

b.
c.
d.
e.

Project Area B: Putnam Clubhouse assists the Office for Consumer
Empowerment (OCE) in developing a new, comprehensive peer and
family-member training program in Contra Costa County that will expand
upon the existing SPIRIT courses and prepare students to be certified as
peer and family providers in California.

Project Area C: Putnam Clubhouses assists the Department of County
Mental Health in a number of other projects, including organizing
community events and the administering consumer perception surveys.
Target Population: Contra Costa County residents with identified mental illness
and their families.
Payment Limit: $549,402.
Number served: For FY 15/16: 314 members.
Outcomes:
• 74 new members enrolled; 23 were young adults ages 18-25 years.
• 85% of family members who completed a survey reported that Clubhouse
activities and programs provided them with respite care and 96% reported a
high level of satisfaction with Clubhouse activities and programs.
• 90% of family members of program participants and 86% of members
completing the annual survey reported that the member’s independence
increased; 90% of members completing the survey reported an increase in
peer contacts.
• 90% of members & caregivers completing the annual survey reported an
increase in mental, physical, and emotional well-being
• 90% of members using career services were “very satisfied” or “satisfied” with
the services related to employment and education.
• Members began and/or sustained paid employment with Clubhouse support.
• Members received support starting and/or continuing school attendance.
• Members experienced a significant decrease in hospitalizations/rehospitalizations and out-of-home placements
• 2016 SPIRIT graduation coordinated by the Clubhouse.
• Consumer holiday party in December coordinated by the Clubhouse in
collaboration with multiple agencies, including OCE.
• The Clubhouse administered the MHSIP consumer surveys for two separate
weeks at area clinics under the supervision of Contra Costa Mental Health.

Appendix B
SERVICE WORK PLAN
Agency: The Contra Costa Clubhouses, Inc.
Number: 74-382
Project Areas: A) Prevention: Relapse prevention for those in recovery from a serious mental illness, B) Career Corner
Project, C) Events and Evaluations, D) PIER Project
Fiscal Year: July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2017

Scope of Services
I.
PROJECT AREA A: The Contra Costa Clubhouses, Inc. operates Putnam Clubhouse which provides peer-based relapse
prevention programming for adults throughout Contra Costa County in recovery from psychiatric disorders, helping them
to develop the support networks, vocational skills, wellness tools, social opportunities, and self-confidence needed to
sustain stable, productive, and more independent lives. Participants are provided with ongoing staff and peer assistance in
accessing the mental and physical health services needed to support their recovery. Participants are intentionally called
members, not patients, clients, or consumers. They work together as colleagues with peers and a small, trained staff to
build on personal strengths, rather than focusing on illness. The term “member” reflects the voluntary, community-based
nature of the Clubhouse, making clear that members are significant contributors to both the program and their own wellbeing. Participation is voluntary, at no cost to members, and available for ongoing support. At all times members choose
the activities they participate in as well as the staff and other members they wish to work with when at the Clubhouse.
Putnam Clubhouse members are partners in their own recovery—rather than passive recipients of treatment—and the
expectation is that each person with a mental illness can rebuild a meaningful and productive life regardless of diagnosis
or background. Due to the peer-to-peer nature of the Clubhouse, the language capacity and cultural diversity of the
membership greatly extends the Clubhouse’s ability to sensitively meet the needs of members from a wide variety of
backgrounds.
All programming meets the standards of Clubhouse International, the SAMHSA-endorsed, evidence-based recovery
model. Putnam Clubhouse has been accredited by Clubhouse International continuously since 2011. The rigorous
accreditation process requires the Clubhouse to provide comprehensive annual program data to Clubhouse International,
participate in ongoing external training, and receive an onsite review every three years by Clubhouse International faculty
to ensure fidelity to the standards of the model.
The following services are provided with PEI funding: Work-ordered day programming weekdays Monday through
Friday, during which participants gain prevocational skills, social skills, healthy living skills, and access to career
development options within the greater community. Assistance and support is provided with navigating the system of care
and accessing services, including benefits, housing, mental health care, and primary care. Lunch (including a hot meal and
salad bar option on weekdays) is planned, prepared, and served by members to members each day the Clubhouse is open.
Dinners are provided during evening hours. Career Development Services include assistance with setting goals, returning
to school, finding/maintaining paid work, including transitional employment (placements secured by the Clubhouse with
area business), supported employment and independent employment. On-site Life Skills, Recreational, and Respite
Services with meals two weeknights and twice monthly on weekends at the Clubhouse in Concord, including: expressive
arts, vocal, the Clubhouse band, visual arts, and creative writing; TGIF Socials, including karaoke, dancing, games,
conversation, and movies; Health Watch, including goal setting, noontime group exercise activity daily, hikes, yoga,
nutrition, weight loss, accessing health services, and smoking cessation. Increased social connection, improved
independence, and enhanced ownership of personal health outcomes serve as relapse protection protective
factors. Transportation Services are provided at no cost by van to some members for evening and weekend activities.
Transportation assistance is also provided to transitional employment, school, and service appointments as needed and
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when possible. Members are assisted with using public transportation options to increase independence. Member
Outreach is provided daily by staff and peers via telephone, email and home visits to stay in touch and encourage program
participation as well as to inquire about the member’s well-being. The Young Adult Initiative provides weekly activities
and programming planned by younger adult members to attract and retain younger adult members in the under-30 age
group. Outreach Programs for case managers and County social service staff, area hospitals, medical providers, and
community-based organizations; newsletter, website, brochure (in both English and Spanish), and dissemination of
written materials through NAMI and other consumer- or caregiver-focused agencies, outreach events, and opportunities
targeting monolingual and LEP consumers and caregivers in their community.

PROJECT AREA B: In collaboration with Contra Costa County Mental Health Office for Consumer Empowerment
(OCE), Putnam Clubhouse produces and hosts Career Corner, an online blog that that focuses on all aspects of vocational
rehabilitation for mental health consumers in Contra Costa County including stigma reduction with the goal of full
inclusion through employment. As part of the work-ordered day, members and staff work together to select content for
posting that will inform, motivate, and help reduce stigma related to employment and education. Blog postings occur on a
frequent basis (at least 124 postings during the contract year) and will include a wide variety of video, audio, photographs,
links to pertinent resources, and written entries. The blog will continue to be promoted widely throughout the County at
County clinics and programs, at nonprofit programs, through social media and email blasts, through press releases, and
with links on partner websites. Also in collaboration with OCE, Putnam Clubhouse will develop, promote, and deliver
four career workshops that will be open to all mental health consumers who are residents of Contra Costa County. The
workshops will include information about overcoming stigma in the workplace and full inclusion. As well, these practical
workshops will cover a wide range of career topics from skill building for getting a job (goal setting, resumes, interviews,
etc.) to how to be successful on the job (getting along with others, workplace etiquette, staying healthy, etc.).
PROJECT AREA C: Putnam Clubhouse will coordinate three, countywide community events: the summer SPIRIT
graduation celebration, the December holiday celebration, and the summer picnic. For each event, the Clubhouse will do
the following: secure the venue, create and distribute promotional materials, encourage area agencies to collaborate and
participate, find and coordinate volunteers, provide all supplies including gift bags for the holiday party, arrange for and
provide refreshments (food and beverages), plan appropriate activities and/or entertainment, and oversee each event on the
day it occurs. Putnam Clubhouse will oversee the administration of the Adult Consumer Perception Survey (the MHSIP)
to Contra Costa County mental health consumers during two separate times and weeks to be determined by the State of
California. The Clubhouse will recruit, coordinate, and supervise volunteer consumers to assist in MHSIP administration
onsite at three Contra Costa County mental health clinics. The Clubhouse will provide two people (either member
volunteers or staff) at up to 6 clinics each day during the two weeks of administration. The volunteers and staff will be
trained in advance to help people complete the surveys and will encourage them to write in comments. Each person
administering the surveys will complete HIPAA training. Putnam Clubhouse will provide transportation to the clinics for
the volunteers and staff as needed. It will also provide raffle prizes as an incentive to those who take the surveys and
appreciation gift cards to volunteer members who assist at the clinics. Contra Costa County Mental Health will notify the
Clubhouse of the required dates, provide water, pencils, signage, the actual surveys, and training for the volunteers in how
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to support/encourage consumers at the clinics in taking the MHSIP.
PROJECT AREA D: The Clubhouse will assist County Mental Health in implementing the Portland Identification and
Early Referral (PIER) program for individuals at risk of psychosis, First Hope, by providing logistical and operational
support.
II.

Types of Mental Health Services/Other Service-Related Activities

During the term of this contract, the Contra Costa Clubhouses, Inc. will assist Contra Costa Mental Health in
implementing the Mental Health Services Act (MHSA), by providing Prevention and Early Intervention services for
relapse prevention for individuals in recovery from serious mental illness and support for their family members.
III.

Program Facilities/Hours of Operation /Staffing
A. Program Facilities Location
Putnam Clubhouse
3024 Willow Pass Road, Suite 230, Concord, CA 94519
B. Contact Person, Phone Number, and Email
Molly Hamaker, Executive Director
925-708-6488
molly@putnamclubhouse.org
C. Program Hours of Operation
The Contra Costa Clubhouses will provide services between the hours of 9:00 am and 5:30 pm
Monday and Thursday, 9:00 am and 5:00 pm, Tuesday, 9:00 am and 7:00 pm Wednesday and Friday,
plus all major holidays and weekend hours at least once per month.
D. Program Staffing (including staffing pattern)
Contractor will employ a minimum of 5.0 FTE to provide direct services.

IV.

Volume of Services to be Provided
Contractor will provide prevention and early interventions services and support to at least 300 families
(members & caregivers). Contractor shall attach to the billing a Monthly Contract Service /Expenditure
Summary (Form: MHP029) with the total number of services provided for the month and the additional
unduplicated (for the year) number of clients served during the month.

V.

Billing Procedure
Contractor shall submit a Demand for Payment (Form: D15.19) for services rendered to Contra Costa
Mental Health. Contractor shall attach to the billing a Monthly Contract Service/Expenditure Summary
(Form: MHP029) with actual expenditure information for the billing period.
Demands for payment should be submitted by mail to:
Jennifer Bruggeman, LMFT
Mental Health Services Act Program Supervisor
Prevention and Early Intervention
Contra Costa County Health Services
1340 Arnold Drive, Suite 200
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VI.

Outcome Statements
Prevent relapse of individuals in recovery and increase protective factors by:
1. Providing comprehensive peer-based programming that helps members develop and access the
support networks, health services, vocational skills, social opportunities, wellness tools, and selfconfidence needed to sustain stable, productive, and more independent lives.
2. Enhancing overall family well-being through Clubhouse participation such that stress related to
caregiving is reduced.

VII.

Measures of Success 2016-2017
A. Members will spend at least 40,000 hours annually engaged in Clubhouse programming.
B. At least 70 newly enrolled Clubhouse members will participate in at least one Clubhouse activity,
including 12 young adults ages 18-25.
C. At least 40 activities held for young adult members ages 18-25
D. At least 120 members & their family members will complete the annual survey.
E. At least 75% of family members completing the annual survey will report that Clubhouse activities
and programs provided them with respite care.
F. At least 75% of family members completing the annual survey will report a high level of satisfaction
with Clubhouse activities and programs.
G. At least 75% of family members and Clubhouse members completing the annual survey will report
that the Clubhouse member’s independence increased.
H. At least 75% of Clubhouse members who use career services will indicate that they are “very
satisfied” or “satisfied” with the services related to employment and education.
I. At least 80% of Clubhouse members who indicate education in their career plan (return to
school/finish degree/enroll in a certificate program) as a goal will be referred to appropriate education
resources within 14 days.
J. At least 80% of members indicating employment as a goal in their career plan will be referred to
employers, apply for jobs, and/or have a job interview within 3 months of indicating goal.
K. At least 9,000 meals will be served to members.
L. At least 75% of members completing the annual survey will report an increase in peer contacts.
M. At least 75% of Clubhouse members & family members completing the annual survey will report an
increase in mental, physical, and emotional well-being.
N. Decrease in hospitalizations and out-of-home placements of active Clubhouse members.

VIII.

Measurement/Evaluation Tools
Contractor will provide documentation of measurement outcomes using the following tools:
A. Daily Program Data Records.
B. Annual Clubhouse Member Survey (includes opportunities for open-ended responses; access
available during program hours and offsite via computer; assistance is given to members needing help
completing surveys).
C. Annual Family Member Survey (includes opportunities for open-ended responses; assistance is given
to those needing help completing surveys).
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D. Annual Hospitalization/Out-of-Home Placement Survey (assistance is given to members needing help
completing survey).
E. Member Qualitative Program Impact Narratives.
F. Weekly Community Meetings (include opportunities for member input).

IX.

Reports Required
Contractor is asked to complete and submit a biannual reporting form on January 15, 2017 and on July 15,
2017 to document the program’s plan/do/check/act quality process and track statistical information (i.e.
age, gender, ethnicity, language, and client residence) of the target population(s) actually served, as
defined by the Contractor and approved by the County during contract award and negotiation process.
Please submit all evaluation reports on a biannual basis via email to:
Michelle Rodriguez-Ziemer, LCSW
Mental Health Services Act Program Supervisor
Prevention and Early Intervention
Contra Costa County Health Services
1340 Arnold Drive, Suite 200
Martinez, CA 94553
Ph. 925-957-7548

X.

Other
Promotional materials for the program should identify the funding source: “Funded by the Mental Health
Services Act in partnership with Contra Costa Mental Health.” Contractor must attend the Regional
Roundtable meetings sponsored by Contra Costa Mental Health.
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Yearly External Fiscal Audit
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Appendix D
The Contra Costa Clubhouses, Inc.
Operating Putnam Clubhouse
STAFFING STRUCTURE
Executive Director of The Contra Costa Clubhouses, Inc.
Reports to agency Board of Directors
Oversees overall agency
Putnam Clubhouse Director
Reports to Executive Director
Oversees Putnam Clubhouse program
Program Manager
Reports to Putnam Clubhouse Director
Oversees daily program operations while engaging staff and members in program
activities.
Unit Leads/Program Generalists
Report to Putnam Clubhouse Director
Oversee a program unit while performing program generalist duties.
Program Generalists
Report to Program Manager
Perform program generalist duties
Administrative Generalist
Reports to Putnam Clubhouse Director
Performs a variety of administrative support duties
STAFFING DUTIES
Executive Director of The Contra Costa Clubhouses, Inc.
The Executive Director works in close partnership with the Clubhouse Director, other
staff, the Board of Directors, community partners, and Clubhouse members to achieve
the mission and goals of the organization. The Executive Director oversees all aspects
of the agency and the operations of Putnam Clubhouse, including administration,
finances, HR, public relations, funding, program development, marketing, and
evaluation.
The duties and responsibilities of the position include, but are not limited to:
• Build and maintain relationships with funder, partners, and the community at
large.
• Oversee business operations of the agency and the Clubhouse.

3024 Willow Pass Road, Suite 230
Concord, CA 94519
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Prepare for and attend Executive Committee meetings, Board meetings, and
other Board-related meetings.
Recruit, hire, supervise, and terminate (as needed) Clubhouse Director
Approve hiring and termination of all staff
Manage the annual budget development, track financial progress, and oversee
fiscal activities of the Clubhouse including contracts.
Provide all required reports and information to government and funding source
organizations.
Oversee related data collection and evaluation.
Stay informed about issues in the general community relevant to the mission and
operations of the Clubhouse.
Uphold Clubhouse International Standards.

Putnam Clubhouse Director
Putnam Clubhouse Director works in close partnership with the Clubhouse members
and staff to run Clubhouse in accordance with the standards of Clubhouse
International. Director oversees all aspects of Clubhouse operations, including program
implementation, staff training and supervision, administration of the work-ordered day
and other program activities, and the membership process.
The duties and responsibilities of the position include, but are not limited to:
• Oversee day-to-day operations and administration of the Clubhouse site,
including membership process.
• Train, supervise, and assign staff.
• Provide a model of working together side-by-side.
• Take leadership role in ensuring positive outcomes in the member's lives.
• Conduct outreach activities with staff and members to referral sources and
community organizations.
• Oversee tracking and reporting of receipts and expenditures
• Assist in developing transitional employment positions and employer relations.
• Make certain that all required data collection—including membership,
attendance, programming, and donors—is accurately collected and reported.
• Establish and maintain program schedules and calendars.
• Lead program development, hiring, and community outreach.
• Uphold the 36 Clubhouse International Standards.
• Participate with members and staff in a collaborative decision-making process.
• Encourage members to take leadership roles.
Program Manager
Putnam Clubhouse Program Manager works in close partnership with the Clubhouse
Director, members, and staff to run Clubhouse in accordance with the standards of
Clubhouse International. The Program Director assists the Director in overseeing the
day-to-day operations of the Clubhouse program.
The duties and responsibilities of the position include, but are not limited to:
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Responsible for day-to-day oversight of program activities and functions.
Train and supervise staff in the role of a generalist.
Provide a model of working together side-by-side.
Take leadership role in ensuring positive outcomes in the members’ lives.
Conduct outreach activities with staff and members to referral sources and
community organizations.
Assist in developing transitional employment positions and employer relations.
Collaborate with and assist the Director in fundraising, program development,
hiring, and community outreach.
Teach and uphold Clubhouse International Standards.
Create a safe and healthy Clubhouse climate for all members and staff.
Participate with members and staff in a collaborative decision-making process.
Encourage members and staff to take leadership roles.
Provide emergency coverage, as needed, in partnership with the Director.
Assist in program development, planning, problem solving, and evaluation.
Provide leadership and support to members and staff in the absence of the
director.

Unit Leads/Program Staff Generalists
The Staff Generalist Unit Leader (SGUL) oversees Staff Generalists working an
assigned Unit. SGUL’s are accountable for the well-being and progress of the members
of the Unit; the competency and proficiency of the staff of the Unit; and the quality,
quantity, and timeliness of the work functions and/or products of the Unit. SGUL’s works
closely and collaboratively with the members and staff both in their Unit and programwide to achieve the goals of the Clubhouse. The SGUL will foster an atmosphere of
collegiality by implementing the philosophy of Putnam Clubhouse in alignment with
Clubhouse International standards and by upholding Putnam Clubhouse’s policies and
procedures at all times.
The duties and responsibilities of the position include, but are not limited to:
• Generates member interest in participation in all aspects of the work-ordered
day.
• Works side-by-side members in work Units at the Clubhouse.
• Assist with internal and external employment and educational programs.
• Takes leadership role in ensuring positive outcomes in the member's lives.
• Helps members to identify and use community resources that promote wellbeing, independence, satisfaction, and self-sufficiency.
• Fosters member self-advocacy.
• Encourages peer-to-peer relationships and interaction among the members.
• Assists with the meal program and special events.
• Conducts outreach activities with members to referral sources and community
organizations.
• Upholds the 36 International Clubhouse Standards.
• Participates with members and staff in a collaborative decision-making process.
• Encourages members to take leadership roles.
• Staffs clubhouse social and recreational programs.
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•

•
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•
•
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Works some Saturday, evening, and holiday hours.
In conjunction with Clubhouse Director, provides support and guidance of Unit
staff in their development and performance throughout the day and through the
weekly supervision structure.
Encourages Unit staff and member participation and engagement by serving as a
role model for members and staff through engagement and working alongside
Unit members performing Unit tasks.
Participates in hiring Staff Generalists and in their performance reviews.
Plays an active role in the growth and development of Unit staff and Unit
members.
Fosters a nurturing, positive atmosphere in the Unit.
Promotes Unit and Clubhouse safety at all times.
Develops and oversees quality of Unit work with the bottom-line responsibility for
completion of Unit work.
Knows and follows all policies and procedures, and are responsible for unit
members and unit staff compliance to all policies and procedures at all times.
The VERDE (career unit) Unit Lead is responsible for the PEI contract’s Career
Corner component.

Program Staff Generalists
Staff Generalists work in close partnership with the Clubhouse members (program
participants) and the Clubhouse Director. The Staff Generalist helps members meet their
needs for employment, housing, education, friendship, structure, and stability in
accordance with the standards of Clubhouse International.
The duties and responsibilities of the position include, but are not limited to:
• Generate member interest in participation in all aspects of the work-ordered day.
• Work side-by-side members in work units at the Clubhouse.
• Assist with internal and external employment and educational programs.
• Take leadership role in ensuring positive outcomes in the member's lives.
• Help members to identify and use community resources that promote well-being,
independence, satisfaction, and self-sufficiency. Foster member self-advocacy.
• Encourage peer-to-peer relationships and interaction among the members.
• Assist with the meal program and special events.
• Conduct outreach activities with members to referral sources and community
organizations.
• Learn about and uphold the 36 International Clubhouse Standards.
• Participate with members and staff in a collaborative decision-making process.
• Encourage members to take leadership roles.
• Staff clubhouse social and recreational programs.
Administrative Generalist
The duties and responsibilities of the position include, but are not limited to:
• Assist with annual event, including registration.
• Computer, software, and office equipment troubleshooting.
• Data entry and management of donor database.
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Assist with newsletters, mailings, and email blasts.
Assist with multimedia projects for internal and external purposes.
Maintain paper and computer files.
Assist both Directors in all aspects of operations.
Board support, including assistance with meeting preparation and minutes.
Errands.
HR assistance.
Bookkeeping assistance.
Assist with reporting.
Assist in the music program working with staff and Clubhouse members.
Provide administrative support for fulfilling obligations of funder contracts.
Uphold organization’s vision, mission, and goals as well as the 36 International
Clubhouse Standards.

Mental Health Services Act (MHSA)
Program and Fiscal Review

I.

Date of On-site Review: May 5, 2017
Date of Exit Meeting:
September 22, 2017

II.

Review Team:

III.

Name of Program:

IV.

Program Description. Seneca Family of Agencies is an innovator in the field of
community and family-based service options for emotionally troubled children
and their families. With a continuum of care, ranging from intensive residential
treatment to in-home wraparound services, and to public school-based services,
Seneca is a leader in providing children’s mental health agencies in Northern
California.

Stephanie Chenard, Warren Hayes, Helen Kearns,
and Gerold Loenecker
Seneca Family of Agencies
2351 Olivera Road, Concord, CA 94520

Seneca Family of Agencies (SFA) provides an integrated, coordinated service to
youth who frequently utilize crisis services, and may be involved in the child
welfare and/or juvenile justice system. Within SFA the START (Short-Term
Assessment of Resources and Treatment) program is a full service partnership
(FSP) program that provides three to six months of short term intensive services
to stabilize the youth in their community, and to connect them and their families
with sustainable resources and supports. The goals of the program are to:
1) reduce the need to utilize crisis services and the necessity for out-of-home and
emergency care for youth enrolled in the program, 2) maintain and stabilize the
youth in the community by assessing the needs of the family system, identifying
appropriate community resources and supports, and ensuring their connection
with sustainable resources and supports, and 3) successfully link youth and
family with formal services and informal supports in their neighborhood, school
and community.
V.

Purpose of Review.
Contra Costa Behavioral Health Services (CCBHS) is
committed to evaluating the effective use of funds provided by the Mental Health
Services Act. Toward this end a comprehensive program and fiscal review was
conducted of the above program. The results of this review are contained herein,
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and will assist in a) improving the services and supports that are provided,
b) more efficiently support the County’s MHSA Three Year Program and
Expenditure Plan, and c) ensure compliance with statute, regulations and policy.
In the spirit of continually working toward better services we most appreciate this
opportunity to collaborate together with the staff and clients participating in this
program in order to review past and current efforts, and plan for the future.
VI.

Summary of Findings.
Topic
1. Deliver services according to the
values of the MHSA

Met
Standard
Met

Notes
Consumers and family
members indicate the
program meets the values
of MHSA

2. Serve the agreed upon target
population.

Met

Program only serves
clients that meet criteria
for the County’s children’s
full service partnership
admission criteria.

3. Provide the services for which
funding was allocated.

Met

MHSA only funds services
consistent with the Three
Year Plan

4. Meet the needs of the community
and/or population.

Met

Services are consistent
with the Three Year Plan

5. Serve the number of individuals
that have been agreed upon.

Met

Target service numbers
are reached.

6. Achieve the outcomes that have
been agreed upon.

Met

Program meets its
outcomes

7. Quality Assurance

Partially
Met

Utilization review indicated
program meets most
quality assurance
standards

8. Ensure protection of confidentiality
of protected health information.

Met

The program is HIPAA
compliant

9. Staffing sufficient for the program

Met

Staffing level supports
targeted service numbers.

10. Annual independent fiscal audit

Met

No material or significant
weaknesses were noted.
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VII.

11. Fiscal resources sufficient to
deliver and sustain the services

Met

12. Oversight sufficient to comply with
generally accepted accounting
principles
13. Documentation sufficient to
support invoices

Met

14. Documentation sufficient to
support allowable expenditures

Met

Method of accounting for
personnel time and
operating costs appear to
be supported.

15. Documentation sufficient to
support expenditures invoiced in
appropriate fiscal year

Met

No billings noted for
previous fiscal year
expenses.

16. Administrative costs sufficiently
justified and appropriate to the
total cost of the program
17. Insurance policies sufficient to
comply with contract

Met

Auditor’s report reflects
indirect rate of 14%.

Met

Necessary insurance is in
place

18. Effective communication between
contract manager and contractor

Met

The County and program
meet regularly.

Review Results.

Met

Seneca has significant net
assets to withstand
significant revenue
interruptions.
Experienced staff
implement sound check
and balance system.
Uses established software
program with appropriate
supporting documentation
protocol.

The review covered the following areas:

1. Deliver services according to the values of the Mental Health Services Act
(California Code of Regulations Section 3320 – MHSA General Standards).
Does the program collaborate with the community, provide an integrated service
experience, promote wellness, recovery and resilience, be culturally competent,
and be client and family driven.
Method. Consumer, family member and service provider interviews and
consumer surveys.
Discussion. The results of 14 consumer surveys were received. The majority of
the survey responses were consistent with consumer interviews; namely, they
show a positive evaluation of the program; and that the program adheres to
MHSA values.
3

Questions

Responses: n=14

Please indicate how strongly you
agree or disagree with the
following statements regarding
persons who work with you:

Strongly Agree
Agree

1. Help me improve my health and
wellness.

Average score: 3.58 (n=14)

2. Allow me to decide what my own
strengths and needs

Average score: 3.50 (n=14)

3. Work with me to determine the
services that are most helpful

Average score: 3.65 (n=14)

4

Disagree Strongly I don’t
Disagree know

3
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n/a

4. Provide services that are sensitive Average score: 3.78 (n=9)
to my cultural background.
5. Provide services that are in my
preferred language

Average score: 3.46 (n=11)

6. Help me in getting needed health,
employment, education and other
benefits and services.

Average score: 3.36 (n=14)

7. Are open to my opinions as to
how services should be provided

Average score: 3.58 (n=14)

8. What does this program do well?

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Helped with school
Help me understand and use coping skills
Picking up child for their therapy sessions.
Flexible appointments.
Working well with the kids.
Listen to what I'm saying without judgement.
Helping my family to have a healthy life.
Help with anxiety.

9. What does this program need to
improve upon?

•
•

Help with housing
Maybe we can have more time to talk about
what we like or what makes us feel better.

10. What needed services and
supports are missing?

•
•
•

Housing
More therapists.
School tutoring.
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11. How important is this program in
helping you improve your health
and wellness, live a self-directed
life, and reach your full potential?

Very
Important

Important

Somewhat
Important

Not
Important

4

3

2

1

Average score: 3.62 (n=13)
12. Any additional comments?

•
•
•

I really appreciate the help.
Would love this program/therapy sessions to
be just a little longer than 6 mos.
Thanks for feeding me.

Consumer Interview
Four families who have participated in Seneca’s START program were
interviewed as a group. The length of times that each family had been involved
with the program varied from three months to 1-1/2 years. Three of the families
interviewed had graduated the program and one family was still active in it.
Consumers reported their initial referrals to the START program were primarily
from Psychiatric Emergency Services (PES), and one reported they were
referred through Child Protective Services (CPS).
Overall, the families were very appreciative of the services provided by START.
They all felt that there was strong cultural grounding for them in their treatment,
and that their input was solicited and valued as part of the treatment plan. During
the interview, some of the other things specifically identified as positives of the
program were:
•
•
•
•
•

The whole family approach engaged not only the child referred to the
program, but both parents and other children in the home as well.
Able to work with mom when she needed stronger individual support.
Helped with whole family dynamic (grandparents, parents, siblings, etc.);
helped to build parenting skills.
Flexibility – able to provide services in the home.
Provide linkages and information for other services; warm hand-off to next
step.

These positives clearly speak to several of the MHSA values. However, the
families also identified some areas of improvement. There was a desire for more
scheduling consistency – regularly scheduled weekly meetings were often
canceled and rescheduled at the last minute. One family member expressed that
she would like to see some of the treatment actually get her granddaughter
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outside – out of the house. Lastly, another family member indicated that while
she very much appreciated that the program staff would often provide treats and
rewards to her son during weekly treatment visits, she felt these rewards were an
unsustainable habit for her to continue after the treatment concluded.
Staff Interview:
Overall, five individual program staff were interviewed in two sessions: a
management session, and line staff group interview – two clinicians and a family
partner. Staff shared that the program generally receives all referrals from PES.
The START team frequently works with families who may be just entering the
mental health system. Staff reported spending most of their time working with
their clients through daily challenges, building coping skills through psychosocial
education, and coaching them to use small interventions (such as breathing
skills) to empower them. According to program staff some of the key strengths of
the program are:
• The flexibility and adaptability of the program to serve clients where they are
at, and to be available whenever there is need (24 hour availability)
• Being able to work with families after PES, who may not know what the next,
or “right” course of treatment is; flexibility in serving families that don’t quite fit
into clear service paths
• Serving families in the community to help aid in commitment to the program
• Availability of flex funds to help address needs in order to improve service
delivery
During the interview, staff also shared hindrances they faced in providing
services to the youth, such as the short program service time, difficulty setting
them up for aftercare with clinics (often there are long wait lists, or clinic locations
and hours are not easily accessible for families), and the strict PES referral policy
(some staff expressed a desire to be able to provide preventive care before a
PES visit is necessary). Additionally, the flexibility of the program also creates its
own challenges in that each clinic in the County uses the START program
differently in how and who they refer, and the hand-off from START back to the
clinic for services is often challenging. It is recommended that the County
children’s clinics work with START to streamline the referral process to help
create a warmer hand-off. However, staff did indicate that overall they felt like
they were meeting the needs of their clients, and appreciated their ability to
provide support to their clients in the community.
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Results. Interviews with program participants and service providers as well as
program participant survey results all support that Seneca delivers programming
in accordance with the values of MHSA.
2. Serve the agreed upon target population. For Community Services and
Supports, does the program serve children or youth with a serious emotional
disturbance. Does the program serve the agreed upon target population (such
as age group, underserved community).
Method. Compare the program description and/or service work plan with a
random sampling of client charts or case files.
Discussion. The Seneca START Full Service Partnership program accepts
referrals almost exclusively from County PES. The FSP program undergoes
regular utilization reviews conducted by utilization review consulting staff
contracted by Seneca to ensure all clients meet the criteria for children’s full
service partnerships. The MHSA chart review conducted by the MHSA Program
and Fiscal Review team confirms the agreed upon target population for full
service partnerships.
CCBHS also performs a utilization review on all programs which bill MediCal,
including Seneca. On May 25, 2016 a Level 2 Centralized Utilization Chart
Review was conducted. For all but one of the charts reviewed, it was determined
that clients met medical necessity for specialty mental health services as
specified in the Welfare and Institutions Code (WIC) Section 5600.3(a).
Results. The program serves the agreed upon population.

3. Provide the services for which funding was allocated. Does the program
provide the number and type of services that have been agreed upon.
Method. Compare the service work plan or program service goals with regular
reports and match with case file reviews and client/family member and service
provider interviews.
Discussion. Monthly service summaries and 931 and 864 Reports from
CCBHS’s billing system show that the Seneca’s Full Service Partnership
program is providing the number and type of services that have been agreed
upon. Services include assessments, plan development, outreach and
engagement, case management, crisis intervention, collateral services, individual
rehabilitation, linkage, and flexible funds. Both program staff and participants
indicated services are available on a 24-7 basis via an after-hours crisis phone
line.
Results. The program provides the services for which funding was allocated.
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4. Meet the needs of the community and/or population. Is the program meeting
the needs of the population/community for which it was designed. Has the
program been authorized by the Board of Supervisors as a result of a community
program planning process. Is the program consistent with the MHSA Three Year
Program and Expenditure Plan.
Method. Research the authorization and inception of the program for adherence
to the Community Program Planning Process. Match the service work plan or
program description with the Three Year Plan. Compare with consumer/family
member and service provider interviews. Review client surveys.
Discussion. The Full Service Partnership programs were included in the original
Community Services and Supports plan that was approved in May 2006 and
included in subsequent plan updates. The program has been authorized by the
Board of Supervisors and is consistent with the current MHSA Three-Year
Program and Expenditure Plan. Interviews with service providers and program
participants support the notion that the program meets its goals and the needs of
the community it serves.
Results. The program meets the needs of the community and the population for
which they are designated.
5. Serve the number of individuals that have been agreed upon. Has the
program been serving the number of individuals specified in the program
description/service work plan, and how has the number served been trending the
last three years.
Method. Match program description/service work plan with history of monthly
reports and verify with supporting documentation, such as logs, sign-in sheets
and case files.
Discussion. Upon initial award of the children’s FSP contract, Seneca’s START
target enrollment number was 80 clients. The program launched in the 2013, and
at the end of their first full fiscal year of operation (13/14FY) they were reporting
serving 103 clients; well over their target. They have continued to exceed their
target numbers.
Results. The program serves the number of people that have been agreed
upon, and consistently exceeds the target enrollment number.
6. Achieve the outcomes that have been agreed upon. Is the program meeting
the agreed upon outcome goals, and how has the outcomes been trending.
Method. Match outcomes reported for the last three years with outcomes
projected in the program description/service work plan, and verify validity of
outcome with supporting documentation, such as case files or charts. Outcome
domains include, as appropriate, incidence of restriction, incidence of psychiatric
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crisis, meaningful activity, psychiatric symptoms, consumer satisfaction/quality of
life, and cost effectiveness. Analyze the level of success by the context, as
appropriate, of pre- and post-intervention, control versus experimental group,
year-to-year difference, comparison with similar programs, or measurement to a
generally accepted standard.
Discussion. Seneca’s FSP program started during FY 13/14, and only started
reporting on outcomes for the 14/15 FY. The program has a few well-defined
primary program objectives as part of the service work plan: reduction in
psychiatric emergency service utilization, reduction in hospitalizations, and
successful and timely linkages to resources. The program has provided an
annual report summarizing their progress towards meeting their program
outcomes.
Results. Overall, the program achieves its primary objectives.
7. Quality Assurance. How does the program assure quality of service provision.
Method. Review and report on results of participation in County’s utilization
review, quality management incidence reporting, and other appropriate means of
quality of service review.
Discussion. CCBHS did not receive any grievances associated with Seneca’s
START Full Service Partnership program. The program has an internal
grievance procedure in place and clients receive information on how to file
complaints as part of the agency’s Notice of Privacy Practices. The program
undergoes regular Level 1 and Level 2 utilization reviews conducted by CCBHS’s
utilization review teams to ensure that program services and documentation meet
regulatory standards. Level 1 and Level 2 utilization review reports indicate that
Seneca generally meets documentation and quality standards.
On May 25, 2016, a Level 2 Centralized Utilization Chart Reviews and a Focused
Review was conducted by CCBHS. The results show that charts generally met
documentation standards, but there were a few compliance issues including
missing, incomplete, incorrect, or misfiled forms that were identified in the review.
There were several other findings related to disallowances for missing or
incomplete assessments, missing documentation noting required criteria for
treatment, duplicate staff billing, various non-billable services, and missing
progress notes. Utilization Review staff provided feedback around standardized
notes, defining allowable billable services, appropriate staffing roles and
services, and weekly treatment plans and partnership plans. Seneca submitted
an appeal on July 7, 2016 for several of the disallowances, some of which were
granted by the County. During the site visit, Seneca indicated they have now
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retained a consultant to review client charts and billing in order to provide a
consistent quality check on their documentation.
Results. The program has a quality assurance process in place. However, it is
recommended that the program continue to provide training to their clinical staff
on consistent clinical documentation.
8. Ensure protection of confidentiality of protected health information. What
protocols are in place to comply with the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Assurance (HIPAA) Act, and how well does staff comply with the
protocol.
Method. Match the HIPAA Business Associate service contract attachment with
the observed implementation of the program’s implementation of a protocol for
safeguarding protected patient health information.
Discussion. Seneca has written policies and provides staff training on HIPAA
requirements and safeguarding of patient information. Client charts are kept in
locked file cabinets, behind a locked door and comply with HIPAA standards.
Clients and program participants are informed about their privacy rights and rules
of confidentiality.
Results. The program complies with HIPAA requirements.
9. Staffing sufficient for the program. Is there sufficient dedicated staff to deliver
the services, evaluate the program for sufficiency of outcomes and continuous
quality improvement, and provide sufficient administrative support.
Method. Match history of program response with organization chart, staff
interviews and duty statements.
Discussion. Seneca’s START team has a sufficient number and type of staff to
support their operations. The experience level of the treatment team varied from
a few years of experience in mental health to this being their first position in
mental health. Seneca has a robust internal training program aimed at
identifying and addressing a variety of mental health issues in their training
process. However, one area of opportunity that staff indicated they would like to
receive more training in was on working in a community-based program and
setting boundaries during services that are delivered outside of an office
environment. Staff also expressed interest in more intensive trainings in dealing
with topics related to early psychosis.
Results. Sufficient staffing is in place to serve the number of clients outlined in
the most recent Service Work Plan.
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10. Annual independent fiscal audit. Did the organization have an annual
independent fiscal audit performed and did the independent auditors issue any
findings.
Method. Obtain and review audited financial statements. If applicable, discuss
any findings or concerns identified by auditors with fiscal manager.
Discussion. Seneca is a California non-profit public benefit corporation
established in 1985 and serves 17 California counties in the Bay Area, Central
Coast, Southern California and King County in Washington. The organization is
committed to treatment, care, education and permanent family solutions for
children faced with the most profound challenges resulting from histories of
trauma. Patient services revenue from contracts with various government
contracts, to include CCBHS, provides 92% of their $100 million revenue. The
available fiscal audits indicate Seneca to not be at risk for adverse fiscal
consequences due to their fiscal and accounting systems.
Results. Annual independent fiscal audits for FY 2013-14, 14-15 and 15-16
were provided and reviewed. No material or significant findings were noted.
11. Fiscal resources sufficient to deliver and sustain the services. Does
organization have diversified revenue sources, adequate cash flow, sufficient
coverage of liabilities, and qualified fiscal management to sustain program.
Method. Review audited financial statements and Board of Directors meeting
minutes. Interview fiscal manager of program.
Discussion. The organization appears to be operating within the budget
constraints provided by their authorized contract amount, and thus appears to be
able to sustain their stated costs of delivering FSP services for the entirety of this
fiscal year. Seneca’s financial documents indicate that the parent organization
has been expanding incrementally each year, and both the Accounting Director
and Program Director for the local contract with CCBHS indicate that they
receive sound fiscal guidance and support.
Results. Fiscal resources are currently sufficient to deliver and sustain services.
12. Oversight sufficient to comply with generally accepted accounting
principles. Does organization have appropriate qualified staff and internal
controls to assure compliance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Method. Interview with fiscal manager.
Discussion. The Accounting Director appears well qualified and described
established protocols that are in place to enable a check and balance system to
assure compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. The
organization uses Seneca’s system-wide software program via their intranet for
all facets of clinical and administrative activity.
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Results. Sufficient oversight exists to enable compliance with generally
accepted accounting principles.
13. Documentation sufficient to support invoices. Do the organization’s financial
reports support monthly invoices charged to the program and ensure no
duplicate billing.
Method. Reconcile financial system with monthly invoices. Interview fiscal
manager of program.
Discussion. A randomly selected invoice for each of the last three years was
matched with supporting documentation provided by the agency. A clear and
accurate connection was established between documented hours/types of
mental health services and submitted invoices. Seneca’s FSP (START) program
is a specialty mental health service contract with CCBHS that is based upon
established rates and billed monthly according to the documented level of service
provided. At the end of the fiscal year a reconciliation process takes place that
determines final payment for the year.
Results. Uses established software program with appropriate supporting
documentation protocol.
14. Documentation sufficient to support allowable expenditures. Does
organization have sufficient supporting documentation (payroll records and
timecards, receipts, allocation bases/statistics) to support program personnel and
operating expenditures charged to the program.
Method. Match random sample of one month of supporting documentation for
each fiscal year (up to three years) for identification of personnel costs and
operating expenditures invoiced to the County.
Discussion. Line item personnel and operating costs were reviewed for
appropriateness. All line items submitted were consistent with line items that are
appropriate to support the service delivery.
Results. Method of allocation of percentage of personnel time and operating
costs appear to be justified and documented.
15. Documentation sufficient to support expenditures invoiced in appropriate
fiscal year. Do organization’s financial system year end closing entries support
expenditures invoiced in appropriate fiscal year (i.e., fiscal year in which
expenditures were incurred regardless of when cash flows).
Method. Reconcile year end closing entries in financial system with invoices.
Interview fiscal manager of program.
Discussion. Total contract billing was within contract limits, with no billing by
this agency for expenses incurred and paid in a previous fiscal year. However,
12

closing entries for the last three years were reviewed and indicate a discrepancy
between what was billed to the MHSA cost center versus what was approved by
the Board of Supervisors. This will be corrected by CCBHS staff.
Results. Seneca appears to be implementing an appropriate year end closing
system. CCBHS will implement administrative procedures with Finance staff to
ensure contract costs charged to the MHSA cost center are aligned with County
Board of Supervisor authorization.
16. Administrative costs sufficiently justified and appropriate to the total cost
of the program. Is the organization’s allocation of administrative/indirect costs
to the program commensurate with the benefit received by the program.
Method. Review methodology and statistics used to allocate
administrative/indirect costs. Interview fiscal manager of program.
Discussion. The management and general costs reflected in the independent
auditor’s report indicate an indirect rate of 14%, which is consistent with
acceptable industry rate.
Results. Indirect rate reflected on the independent auditor’s report of 14%
appears reasonable.
17. Insurance policies sufficient to comply with contract. Does the organization
have insurance policies in effect that are consistent with the requirements of the
contract.
Method. Review insurance policies.
Discussion. The program provided certificate of commercial general liability
insurance, automobile liability, umbrella liability, professional liability and
directors and officers liability policies that were in effect at the time of the site
visit.
Results. The program complies with contract insurance requirements.
18. Effective communication between contract manager and contractor. Do
both the contract manager and contractor staff communicate routinely and clearly
regarding program activities, and any program or fiscal issues as they arise.
Method. Interview contract manager and contractor staff.
Discussion. To date contract management duties have been centralized within
CCBHS’s children’s system. Moreover, the contract manager and Children’s
Chief meet with the program for regular monthly meetings.
Results. The program has historically had good communication with the
contract manager and is receptive to feedback and willing to address concerns
that may arise.
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VIII.

Summary of Results.
Seneca is committed to stabilizing youth and their families in the community who
frequently utilize crisis services, and may be involved in the child welfare and/or
juvenile justice system. Their short-term intensive services seek to connect
these families and consumers to sustainable resources and supports. The
Seneca Full Service Partnership adheres to the values of MHSA and serving
their target population. The program is meeting and often exceeding the
outcomes detailed in their contract. Seneca appears to be a financially sound
organization that follows generally accepted accounting principles, and maintains
documentation that supports agreed upon service expenditures.

IX.

Findings for Further Attention.
•

It is recommended that the County children’s clinics work with START to
streamline the referral process to help create a warmer hand-off.

•

The program should continue to provide training to their clinical staff on
consistent clinical documentation.

•

CCBHS will implement administrative procedures with Finance staff to
ensure contract costs charged to the MHSA cost center are aligned with
County Board of Supervisor authorization

X.

Next Review Date. May 2020

XI.

Appendices.

Appendix A – Program Response
Appendix B – Program Description/Service Work Plan
Appendix C – Service Provider Budget
Appendix D – Yearly External Fiscal Audit
Appendix E – Organization Chart
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XII.

Working Documents that Support Findings.

Consumer Listing
Consumer, Family Member Surveys
Consumer, Family Member, Provider Interviews
County MHSA Monthly Financial Report
County Utilization Review Report
Progress Reports, Outcomes
Monthly Invoices with Supporting Documentation
Indirect Cost Allocation Methodology/Plan
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes
Insurance Policies
MHSA Three Year Plan and Update(s)
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APPENDIX A
Program Response

APPENDIX B

Program Description/Service Work Plan

Seneca Family of Agencies
Point of Contact: Jessica Donohue, Program Director
Contact Information: 2351 Olivera Road, Concord, CA, 94520,
(925) 808–8724, jessica_donohue@senecacenter.org
1. General Description of the Organization
Seneca Center for Children and Families is a leading innovator in the field of
community-based and family-based service options for emotionally troubled children
and their families. With a continuum of care ranging from intensive residential
treatment, to in-home wraparound services, to public school-based services, Seneca
is one of the premier children’s mental health agencies in Northern California.
2. Program: Short Term Assessment of Resources and Treatment (START)
- Full Service Partnership - CSS
Seneca Family of Agencies (SFA) provides an integrated, coordinated service to
youth who frequently utilize crisis services, and may be involved in the child welfare
and/or juvenile justice system. START provides three to six months of short term
intensive services to stabilize the youth in their community, and to connect them and
their families with sustainable resources and supports. The goals of the program are
to 1) reduce the need to utilize crisis services, and the necessity for out-of-home and
emergency care for youth enrolled in the program, 2) maintain and stabilize the
youth in the community by assessing the needs of the family system, identifying
appropriate community resources and supports, and ensuring their connection with
sustainable resources and supports, and 3) successfully link youth and family with
formal services and informal supports in their neighborhood, school and community.
a. Scope of Services:
• Outreach and engagement
• Linkage
• Assessment
• Case management
• Plan development
• Crisis Intervention
• Collateral
• Flexible funds
• Contractor must be available to consumer on 24/7 basis
b. Target Population: The target population for the program includes youth 18 years
and under with a history of multiple psychiatric hospitalizations and crisis

interventions, imminent risk of homelessness, who have a serious mental illness
and/or are seriously emotionally disturbed, and are not being served, or are
being underserved, by the current mental health system. Youth in the program
can be Medi-Cal eligible or uninsured.
c. Payment Limit: $ 562,915
d. Number served: Number served in FY 15/16 -- Total 103: West 35, Central 23,
and East 45
e. Outcomes:
• Reduction in incidence of psychiatric crisis
• Reduction of the incidence of restriction
Table 8. Pre-and post-enrollment utilization rates for 101 Seneca Start FSP Participants enrolled in the
FSP program during FY 15-16
No. preenrollment

No. postenrollment

Rate preenrollment

Rate postenrollment

%change

PES episodes

124

29

0.143

0.033

-76.9

Inpatient episodes

21

6

0.028

0.007

-75

Inpatient days

142

26

0.194

0.027

-86.0

* Data on service utilization were collected from the county’s internal billing
system, PSP. To assess the effect of FSP enrollment on PES presentations
and inpatient episodes, this methodology compares clients’ monthly rates of
service utilization pre-enrollment to clients’ post-enrollment service utilization
rates. Using PES usage as an example, the calculations used to assess preand post-enrollment utilization rates can be expressed as:
(No. of PES episodes during pre- enrollment period)/ (No. of months in preenrollment period) =Pre-enrollment monthly PES utilization rate
(No. of PES episodes during post-enrollment period)/ (No. of months in postenrollment period) =Post-enrollment monthly PES utilization rate

SERVICE WORK PLAN
Agency:
Contract #
Fiscal Year:
Title of Program:

Seneca Family of Agencies
74-058-21
July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2017
START – Short-Term Assessment of Resources and Treatment
(FSP-START)

I.

Scope of Services
Seneca Family of Agencies (SFA), will providing exceptionally integrated and
coordinated services funded by the Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) and Federal FFP
Medi-Cal revenue, to children and transitional-age youth, and their families, who
frequently utilize crisis services or have experienced a psychiatric emergency and are
often involved with the child welfare and/or juvenile justice systems in Contra Costa
County. The goals of the program are to (1) reduce the need to utilize crisis services and
the necessity for out-of-home and emergency care for youth enrolled in the program,
(2) reduce the frequencies of youth hospitalizations and visits to Psychiatric Emergency
Services (PES), (3) maintain and stabilize the youth in the community by assessing the
needs of the family system, identifying appropriate community resources and supports,
and ensuring their connection with sustainable resources and supports, (4) successfully
link youth and family with formal services and informal supports in their neighborhood,
school and community. Services shall be based in East, West, and Central Contra Costa
County.

II.

Types of Mental Health Service/Other Service-Related Activities
Services provided are consistent with standards set forth by the California Department of
Health Care Services and Contra Costa County Children’s Mental Health.
SFA will provide mental health services for at least 80 youth, with a concurrent target
enrollment of 45 youth. Services include but are not limited to:









Assessment
Plan Development
Outreach and Engagement
Case Management
Collateral Services
Individual Rehabilitation
Crisis Intervention
Linkage

START staff will be available to support participants and their families on a 24/7 basis.
III.

Criteria for Eligibility of Services
A.
Admissions:
Inclusion criteria are as follows:

Initials: ____________________________________
Contractor
County Department
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SERVICE WORK PLAN
Agency:
Contract #
Fiscal Year:
Title of Program:

Seneca Family of Agencies
74-058-21
July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2017
START – Short-Term Assessment of Resources and Treatment
(FSP-START)

1. Youth 18 years and under at intake must have a mental health diagnosis,
other than a primary substance abuse disorder or developmental disorder,
placing client at risk for frequent use of crisis services.
2. Youth meet at least 1 or more of the following criteria:
A) As a result of the mental disorder, the youth has substantial
impairment in at least two of the following areas: self-care, school
functioning, family relationships, or ability to function in the
community, and either of the following occur:
i. The child is at risk for removal from home or has already been
removed from the home. OR
ii. The mental disorder and impairments have been present for
more than six months or are likely to continue for more than one
year without treatment.
B) The youth displays one of the following: psychotic features, risk of
suicide, risk of violence due to a mental disorder.
C) The youth has received an educational assessment and determined to
have an emotional disturbance, as defined in the Code of Federal
Regulations.
3. Current residency in Contra Costa County
4. Preference is given to unserved and underserved youth as defined by the
county’s Mental Health Services Act plan.
5. Medi-Cal eligible and/or uninsured
B.

Discharge Criteria:
Discharge may occur as a result of:
1. Successful linkage to formal and informal supports.
2. The participant and service provider agree the participant has made
sufficient progress to continue to meet their needs in a healthy manner with
a lower level of service.
3. The participant moves outside of the geographic service area on a permanent
basis.
4. The participant becomes ineligible for youth services based on their age.
Efforts will be made to link these participants with other adult service
providers.
5. If a participant is incarcerated, service provider will evaluate participant’s
ongoing enrollment on a quarterly basis.
6. Clinical determination that further services are unlikely to result in reaching
goals in the services plan.
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SERVICE WORK PLAN
Agency:
Contract #
Fiscal Year:
Title of Program:

Seneca Family of Agencies
74-058-21
July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2017
START – Short-Term Assessment of Resources and Treatment
(FSP-START)

7. Participant or guardian declines or refused services and requests discharge,
despite the team’s best efforts to develop an acceptable services plan with
the participant.
8. Participant is not present to receive services.
IV.

Program Facilities/Hours of Operation/Staffing
A.
Program Facilities Location
The primary SFA START office is located at 2351 Olivera Road, Concord, CA
94520. As a community based program, a majority of the services provided occur
within the community at large.
B.

V.

Contact Person and Phone Number
Jessica Donohue, Director of Community Based Services
Tom Tamura, Division Director

(925) 229-5400
(510) 589-8831

C.

Program Hours of Operation
SFA staff is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, via on-call cell phone. Upon
enrollment, the youth and caregivers are provided the appropriate information to
contact their Personal Service Coordinator during a crisis. After 5pm the youth
and/or caregiver will have the contact information to call the staff on-call phone.

D.

Program Staffing (including staffing pattern)
i.
Division Director – 0.1 FTE
ii. Program Director – 0.5 FTE
iii. Assistant Program Director - 0.25 FTE
iv.
Clinical Supervisor – 0.25 FTE
v.
Personal Service Coordinator – 3.0 FTE
vi. Family Partner – 1.0 FTE
vii. Youth Partner – 1.0 FTE
viii. Case Assistant – 0.5 FTE

Service Documentation
SFA will provide documentation of services as determined by Medi-Cal requirements
and will collaborate with County personnel to enter PSP data.
Each client in the program will have a clinical record, which will contain all required
consents, county required documents, client assessments and treatment plans, and
progress notes.
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SERVICE WORK PLAN
Agency:
Contract #
Fiscal Year:
Title of Program:

Seneca Family of Agencies
74-058-21
July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2017
START – Short-Term Assessment of Resources and Treatment
(FSP-START)

SFA staff will complete the Partnership Assessment Form at the time of a youth’s
enrollment; the Quarterly Assessment Form will be completed every quarter initiated
from the date of enrollment; and the Key Event Tracking form will be completed, if and
when the youth experiences a key event. The information will be collected and entered
accurately and without delay in to the State Data Collection and Reporting (DCR) System
by SFA staff.
Additionally, the CANS and CALOCUS assessments will be completed at enrollment.
The CANS/CALOCUS will also be completed every three months post-enrollment, and
at discharge. The CANS data will be entered by SFA staff into the agency’s database.
SFA will send the data to Mental Health Administration (MHA) monthly. SFA staff will
send the completed CALOCUS assessments to MHA as completed. MHA staff will enter
the information into an MHA database once received.
Within the first 30 days PSC staff will complete the following:
• Comprehensive Assessment including the CALOCUS and CANS
• Treatment Plan
• Safety Plan
SFA staff will document all linkages made during the course of enrollment on the
Discharge Summary, and will include a significant contact person for each linkage
resource. Within 30 days of being discharged from START, SFA staff will call each
contact person to determine whether or not the client/family remains engaged with the
provider/service. A “successful linkage” will be defined as a service or provider with
which a family continues to be engaged approximately 30 days after being discharged
from the program. If the family does not maintain contact with the resource 30 days
post-discharge, the linkage will be deemed “unsuccessful.”
Flexible Funds accounts are to be tracked monthly with a summary report being
submitted to the county no later than 7 days following the end of the month.
VI.

Billing Procedure
Contractor shall submit to Mental Health each month a Demand for Payment (Form D15)
for services rendered.
Demands for payment should be submitted by mail to:
Helen Kearns, Project Manager
Contra Costa County Children’s Mental Health Division
Initials: ____________________________________
Contractor
County Department

Page 4 of 5

SERVICE WORK PLAN
Agency:
Contract #
Fiscal Year:
Title of Program:

Seneca Family of Agencies
74-058-21
July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2017
START – Short-Term Assessment of Resources and Treatment
(FSP-START)

1340 Arnold Drive, Suite 200
Martinez, Ca 94553
(925) 957-5125
III.

Program Outcomes
1. Participating youth will experience at least a 30% reduction in psychiatric emergency
service utilization at discharge compared to pre-enrollment baseline.
2. Participating youth will experience at least a 30% reduction in hospitalizations at
discharge compared to pre-enrollment baseline.
3. 95% of linkage resources will be contacted 30 days post-discharge to determine the
success of the linkage.
4. Youth and families will successfully link to 75% of the services/providers introduced
by the START program.

VIII. Performance Outcome Measures
Performance will be measured in compliance with state and local regulation utilizing:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
IV.

Partnership Assessment Form
Key Event Tracking Form
Quarterly Assessment Form
Child and Adolescent Level of Care Utilization System (CALOCUS)
Child and Adolescent Needs and Strengths (CANS)
Discharge Summary
Client Satisfaction Questionnaire (County Form)
SFA Satisfaction Surveys to Youth and Caregiver (upon discharge)
MHSIP Consumer Perception Survey

Other
Promotional materials for this program should identify the funding source: “Funded by
Proposition 63: the Mental Health Services Act, in partnership with Contra Costa Mental
Health”.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Audit Committee
Seneca Family of Agencies
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Seneca Family of Agencies (a California non-profit
public benefit corporation), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of June 30,
2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets, functional
expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstance, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Seneca Family of Agencies as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the changes in its net assets and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
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SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
June 30, 2016 and 2015
2016

2015

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable:
Government agencies
Other
Pledges receivable
Loan receivable
Prepaid expenses

$

Property and equipment - net
Other assets
Restricted cash
Deposits
Bond issuance costs, net
Other

10,348,887
11,167

$

6,633,077
1,360,085

17,742,185
384,205
167,200
572,049
29,225,693

16,365,927
310,584
117,200
1,395,000
601,526
26,783,399

26,113,608

22,428,760

261,473
1,291,891
177,344
45,200
1,775,908

261,196
1,477,576
189,436
45,200
1,973,408

$

57,115,209

$

51,185,567

$

1,459,481
8,673,114
534,652
2,368,939
3,537,247
515,754
95,000
17,184,187

$

1,529,042
6,608,898
925,067
2,002,067
4,233,248
369,004
95,000
15,762,326

Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Reserves
Overpayments
Deferred revenue
Notes payable
Bonds payable
Long term liabilities
Reserves, net of current portion
Notes payable, net of current portion
Bonds payable, net of current portion

Net assets
Unrestricted
Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted
$

See accompanying notes.
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3,559,662
11,820,906
1,985,000
17,365,568
34,549,755

2,929,882
9,269,550
2,080,000
14,279,432
30,041,758

20,926,607
1,573,672
65,175
22,565,454

19,993,089
1,085,545
65,175
21,143,809

57,115,209

$

51,185,567

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Consolidated Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
Year Ended June 30, 2016
Temporarily
Restricted

Unrestricted
Revenue and support
Contributions
General
In-kind
Government contracts
Program service fees
Special events (net of expenses
of $65,742)
Other revenue
Investment return
Net assets released from restrictions

$

745,002
329,500
92,692,593
1,181,507

$

181,789
1,961,198
19,290
2,121,873

Net assets, beginning of year
Net deficit of affiliate as of October 8, 2016
Net assets, end of year

488,127

86,091,173
12,065,410
98,156,583

Changes in net assets

-

1,076,169

488,127

19,993,089

1,085,545

(142,651)
$

20,926,607

$

(2,121,873)

99,232,752
Expenses
Program services
Support services

2,610,000
-

Permanently
Restricted

$

See accompanying notes.
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1,573,672

-

Total

$

-

181,789
1,961,198
19,290
-

-

99,720,879

-

86,091,173
12,065,410
98,156,583

-

1,564,296

65,175

21,143,809

$

3,355,002
329,500
92,692,593
1,181,507

65,175

(142,651)
$

22,565,454

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
Year Ended June 30, 2015
Temporarily
Restricted

Unrestricted
Revenue and support
Contributions
General
In-kind
Government contracts
Program service fees
Special events (net of expenses
of $94,926)
Other revenue
Investment return
Net assets released from restrictions

$

$

135,186
1,603,503
(2,579)
789,609

Expenses
Program services
Support services

Changes in net assets
Net assets, beginning of year
Net assets, end of year

772,985
879,844
83,147,519
1,411,921

$

883,047
-

Permanently
Restricted

$

-

Total

$

1,656,032
879,844
83,147,519
1,411,921

(789,609)

-

88,737,988

93,438

-

88,831,426

75,485,541
11,624,269
87,109,810

-

-

75,485,541
11,624,269
87,109,810

1,628,178

93,438

-

1,721,616

18,364,911

992,107

65,175

19,422,193

19,993,089

$

See accompanying notes.
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1,085,545

$

65,175

135,186
1,603,503
(2,579)
-

$

21,143,809

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses
Year Ended June 30, 2016

Community
Based
Services
Payroll
Salaries
Employee benefits
Payroll taxes and
workers' compensation

$

Total Payroll
Operations
Advertisement and recruitment
Bank fee
Clothing
Conferences and training
Contract services
Equipment leases
Family service fees
Food
Fundraising
Government fees
Insurance
Interest
In-kind
Medical-Non Medi Cal
Occupancy
Printing
Repairs and maintenance
Special events
Subscription and dues
Supplies and postage
Telephone
Transportation
Utilities

Depreciation
Total Direct Expenses
Allocable Expense
$

21,825,466 $
3,139,688

Foster Care
and
Permanency
2,453,964 $
353,013

Training
737,133 $
106,040

Total
Program
Services
54,139,261 $
7,788,167

Development
445,545 $
64,094

Management
and
General

Total

4,930,299 $
752,560

59,515,105
8,604,821

2,936,578

2,200,764

247,445

74,329

5,459,116

44,926

497,145

6,001,187

36,248,702

27,165,918

3,054,422

917,502

67,386,544

554,565

6,180,004

74,121,113

106,762
212,433
1,529,240
37,921
191,123
23,024
12,343
395,646
3,598
495,937
73,116
45,408
777,841
219,406
276,933
189,560

48,799
31,601
194,188
13,618
1,932,039
1,579
250
11,934
38,686
101,372
1,674
63,678
26,320
2,862
78,879
93,095
184,294
26,165

4,721
91,116
827,788
43,928
11
7,417
194
15,863
63,720
13,583
48,149
-

338,460
39
493,076
6,549,515
122,037
1,933,835
252,678
266
22,581
282,529
0
29,395
1,199,182
10,349
1,211,996
108,794
76,294
1,962,147
898,244
2,123,526
430,381

5,253
8,829
156,357
448
36
5,406
(68)
4,604
329,500
9,426
20,393
8,417
374
12,231
17,219
4,774
12,931
2,110

55,798
141,774
889,441
15,649
81,701
607,031
271,310
74,999
14,610
399,916
8,254
349,484
522,612
298,019
392,213
225,185

343,713
55,798
39
643,679
7,595,313
138,134
1,933,835
252,714
5,672
104,214
607,031
558,443
329,500
29,395
1,283,607
45,352
1,620,329
117,422
438,009
2,501,978
1,201,037
2,528,670
657,676

45,736,212

31,756,209

5,905,455

2,033,992

85,431,868

1,152,805

10,528,001

97,112,674

412,967

175,041

50,179

21,118

659,305

4,346

380,258

1,043,909

46,149,179

31,931,250

5,955,634

2,055,110

86,091,173

1,157,151 $

10,908,259 $

98,156,583

5,769,821

3,992,218

744,606

256,941

10,763,585

144,673

6,700,240 $

2,312,051 $

178,178
39
157,926
3,998,299
70,498
1,796
59,976
16
(12,377)
187,572
29,395
702,164
5,066
644,964
9,164
12,161
1,041,707
572,160
1,614,150
214,656

Total Expenses Before
Depreciation

Total Expense

29,122,698 $
4,189,426

Education
Services

51,919,000 $

35,923,468 $

See accompanying notes.
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96,854,758 $

1,301,824

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Statement of Functional Expenses
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Community
Based
Services
Payroll
Salaries
Employee benefits
Payroll taxes and
workers' compensation

$

Total Payroll
Operations
Advertisement and recruitment
Bank fee
Clothing
Conferences and training
Contract services
Equipment leases
Family service fees
Food
Fundraising
Government fees
Insurance
Interest
In-kind
Medical-Non Medi Cal
Occupancy
Printing
Repairs and maintenance
Special child and family events
Subscription and dues
Supplies and postage
Telephone
Transportation
Utilities
Total Expenses Before
Depreciation
Depreciation
Total Direct Expenses
Allocable Expense
Total Expense

$

25,510,378 $
3,057,168

Education
Services
18,725,074 $
2,244,016

Foster Care
and
Permanency
2,141,863 $
256,681

Training
712,452 $
85,380

Total
Program
Services
47,089,767 $
5,643,245

Development
353,652 $
42,382

Management
and
General

Total

4,769,320 $
571,556

52,212,739
6,257,183

2,834,050

2,080,244

237,948

79,149

5,231,391

39,289

529,843

5,800,523

31,401,596

23,049,334

2,636,492

876,981

57,964,403

435,323

5,870,719

64,270,445

153,194
136,717
3,820,948
61,713
15,706
46,434
58,758
144,386
81,020
19,527
746,942
4,134
824,161
10,872
10,182
1,060,028
412,657
1,455,320
165,541

105,599
168,967
1,480,595
35,056
224,013
3,416
11,396
550
395,712
3,924
625,542
75,077
17,008
630,879
180,320
253,123
181,547

25,566
704
24,542
150,133
13,450
1,808,033
4,089
8,824
43,347
110,700
96,564
1,525
84,757
22,344
2,881
78,893
37,816
173,587
19,106

4,888
95,223
808,916
45,582
12,863
133
7,760
30,300
15,005
32,909
-

289,247
704
425,449
6,260,592
110,219
1,823,739
274,536
70,998
244,711
191,720
20,077
1,239,218
9,583
1,547,323
108,426
37,831
1,800,100
645,798
1,914,939
366,194

16,585
6,029
198,407
336
20
17,415
45
4,835
158,124
25,585
6,428
3,311
17,858
1,899
14,618
1,210

13,440
72,376
99,203
931,118
15,805
579
226,942
512,533
133,783
60
39,840
16,455
588,034
3,760
156,433
430,512
241,982
386,356
121,428

319,272
72,376
704
530,681
7,390,117
126,360
1,823,739
274,556
17,994
297,985
512,533
383,329
349,844
20,137
1,279,058
51,623
2,141,785
112,186
197,575
2,248,470
889,679
2,315,913
488,832

40,629,836

27,442,058

5,343,353

1,930,560

75,345,807

908,028

9,861,358

86,115,193

92,256

12,309

13,015

22,154

139,734

98

854,785

994,617

40,722,092

27,454,367

5,356,368

1,952,714

75,485,541

908,126 $

5,712,303

3,851,169

751,366

273,918

10,588,755

127,388

6,107,734 $

2,226,632 $

46,434,395 $

31,305,536 $

See accompanying notes.
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86,074,296 $

1,035,514

10,716,143 $

87,109,810

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015
2016
Cash flows from operating activities
Changes in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile changes in net assets to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash contribution of real estate
(Gain) loss on asset disposal
(Gain) loss, realized and unrealized, on investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts receivable - government agencies
Accounts receivable - other
Pledges receivable
Prepaid expenses
Deposits
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Reserves
Overpayments
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

1,564,296

2015
$

1,056,000
(862,054)
141,965

1,006,708
(530,000)
43,225
139,679

(1,376,258)
(62,860)
(50,000)
59,391
186,135

(4,790,026)
(168,142)
50,000
270,476
(261,846)

(219,167)
1,834,628
239,365
366,872
(696,001)
2,182,312

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of equipment
Purchase of property and equipment
Loan to nonprofit organization
Loan repayments received from nonprofit
Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchase of investments

1,721,616

101,283
912,414
738,531
817,616
742,740
794,274

2,095,400
(3,834,906)
160,909
3,338,653
(2,131,700)

(6,686,212)
(1,395,000)
3,569,988
(1,582,698)

(371,644)

(6,093,922)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from financing of real property
Payments on notes payable
Payments on bonds payable
Net cash provided by financing activities

2,879,002
(932,501)
(95,000)
1,851,501

6,195,850
(2,081,137)
(95,000)
4,019,713

Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash held by affiliate as of October 8, 2015
Changes in restricted cash

3,662,169
6,633,077
53,918
(277)

(1,279,935)
7,911,551
1,461

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Supplemental disclosures
Interest paid
In-kind support
Noncash transaction - elimination on consolidation of
loan to nonprofit as of affiliation date
See accompanying notes.
8

$

10,348,887

$

6,633,077

$

558,443
329,500

$

383,329
879,844

1,234,091

-

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015

Note 1 - The Organization
Seneca Family of Agencies (the Organization) was established in 1985 and serves 17
California counties in the Bay Area, Central Coast, and Southern California, and King
County, Washington. The Organization is committed to treatment, care, education and
permanent family solutions for children faced with the most profound challenges
resulting from histories of trauma. In all areas of service, unconditional care is the
standard to ensure the safety and stability of each child. The Organization’s focus is to
ensure that all children and youth are able to grow up in safe and loving families.
National leadership – A leader in the state and national dialogue on family based
permanency, the National Institute for Permanent Family Connectedness was created.
The NIFPC consults and trains child welfare agencies, court systems and community
partners nationally.
Community Based Services - During the 2015-2016 fiscal year, Seneca's communitybased services served 6,722 youth. Seneca's community-based services build upon and
enhance the strengths of children and families, accelerating their progress toward
attaining stability, self-sufficiency and long-term success in their home communities.
School based mental health and special education programs – Educational programs
support the success of all children in classroom, community and family. In the 20152016 fiscal year Seneca served 1,313 youth in its educational programs. Special
education and mental health care in an education environment begins with a prevention
and early intervention model managed within a community school setting.
Foster Care and Permanency –The foster care and permanency programs serve about 848
children each year in adoption, relative care, post adoption, or mental health services.
Professional and parent education – A training institute headquartered in Oakland serves
as the base of operations for statewide professional training for staff and community
partners as well as providing specialized adoption and parent training curricula to expand
the scope of evidence-based and evidence-informed learning.
National Accreditation - Seneca Family of Agencies has achieved Joint Commission
Behavioral Health Care Accreditation to reinforce its dedication to meeting or exceeding
the highest standards of behavioral health care delivery. We are one of the only agencies
in the country that integrates juvenile justice, child welfare, education, mental health and
training into its service network.
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SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015

Note 1 - The Organization (continued)
Volunteer professional services and in-kind donor participation – During years ended
June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Organization acknowledged $329,500 and $349,844,
respectively, of in-kind donations for use in various programs, as well as a $530,000
donation of real estate in December 2014.
Affiliation - Effective October 8, 2015, the Organization entered into an affiliation
agreement with Family Life Center (FLC), a California nonprofit corporation operating
residential treatment and education programs for children and families in need in
Petaluma, California . Under the agreement, the Organization controls the appointment of
FLC’s board of directors. Because of the level of control over operations and governance,
the Organization has consolidated FLC’s operations in its financial statements beginning
as of the date of the affiliation.
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of consolidation – The accompanying consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of the Organization and Family Life Center, an affiliated
organization. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.
Basis of accounting - The accrual method of accounting is used, which reflects revenue
when earned and expenses as incurred.
Basis of presentation - Resources are classified for accounting and reporting purposes
into three classes of net assets, according to externally imposed restrictions:
Unrestricted net assets - Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed
stipulations, which represent the expendable resources that are available for
operations at management’s discretion.
Temporarily restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations
that can be fulfilled by actions of the Organization pursuant to those stipulations or
that expire by the passage of time.
Permanently restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations
that they be maintained permanently by the Organization. Generally, the donors of
such assets permit the Organization to use all or part of the income earned on the
assets.
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SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents include cash, money market
accounts, and demand deposits held by financial institutions, and other highly liquid
investments with a maturity of three months or less.
Accounts receivable – Accounts receivable includes receivables from governmental
agencies and private foundations, as well as receivables related to rents, service and
consulting income. The Organization uses an allowance method in order to reserve for
potential uncollectible accounts receivable.
Property and equipment - Property and equipment in excess of $1,000 are stated at cost if
purchased or at fair market value at the date of donation if donated, with the exception of
assets purchased for the group homes, which are expensed. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
Contributions and pledges receivable - Unconditional promises to give that are expected
to be collected within one year are recorded at net realizable value. Unconditional
promises to give that are expected to be collected in future years are recorded at fair
value, which is measured as the present value of their future cash flows. The discounts
on those amounts are computed using risk-adjusted interest rates applicable to the years
in which the promises are received. Amortization of the discount is included in
contribution revenue. Conditional promises to give are not included as support until the
conditions are substantially met.
Investments - The Organization values its investments at fair value. Gains and losses
(including investments bought, sold, and held during the year) are reflected in the
statement of activities as investment return. Short-term highly liquid money market
deposits that are not used for operations are treated as investments.
Fair value measurements - Generally accepted accounting principles provide guidance on
how fair value should be determined when financial statement elements are required to be
measured at fair value. Valuation techniques are ranked in three levels depending on the
degree of objectivity of the inputs used with each level:
Level 1 inputs - quoted prices on active markets for identical assets
Level 2 inputs - quoted prices on active or inactive markets for the same or similar
assets
Level 3 inputs - estimates using the best information available when there is little or no
market
11

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The Organization is required to measure three types of assets and the related revenues at
fair value: unconditional promises to give (pledges receivable), certain investments, and
in-kind contributions. The specific techniques used to measure fair value for each
element are described in the notes that relate to each element.
Revenue recognition – The Organization reports cash contributions as restricted support
if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When
a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose
restriction is accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to
unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released
from restrictions. Contributions are considered to be available for unrestricted use unless
specifically restricted by the donor.
In-kind contributions - Contributions of donated non-cash assets are recorded at fair value
in the period received. Contributions of donated services that create or enhance nonfinancial assets or that require specialized skills provided by individuals possessing those
skills, and would typically need to be purchased if not provided by donation, are recorded
at fair value in the period received.
A number of unpaid volunteers have made significant contributions of their time and
perform a variety of tasks that assist the Organization with its programs. However, the
value of these services is not reflected in these statements because the criteria for
recognition have not been satisfied.
Functional allocation of expenses - The Organization has in place a cost allocation plan
employed to allocate indirect expenses among programs and administrative services on a
basis proportionate to the direct staff time or other method which best measures the
relative degree of benefit.
Use of estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could
differ from those estimates.
Income taxes - The Organization is exempt from taxation under Internal Revenue Code
Section 501(c)(3) and California Revenue and Taxation Code Section 23701d, and is
considered by the IRS to be an organization other than a private foundation.
.
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SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Generally accepted accounting principles provide accounting and disclosure guidance
about positions taken by an organization in its tax returns that might be uncertain.
Management has considered its tax positions and believes that all of the positions taken in
the Organization’s federal and state exempt organization and business income returns are
more likely than not to be sustained upon examination. The Organization’s returns for
years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013, are subject to examination by federal and
state taxing authorities, generally for three years after they are filed
Reclassifications - Certain prior year revenue and expense amounts have been
reclassified for comparative purposes.

Note 3 - Pledges Receivable
Pledges receivable are recorded as support when pledged, unless designated otherwise.
All pledges are valued at estimated fair value at the date of the pledge. The total amount
of pledges receivable at June 30, 2016 of $167,200 is expected to be collected within one
year.

Note 4 - Property and Equipment
As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, property and equipment consist of the following:
2016
$ 11,808,529
12,386,179
5,221,144
1,914,752
1,376,663
265,925
372,663
33,345,855
Accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 7,232,247)
$ 26,113,608
Land
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment
Vehicles
Portable buildings
Construction in progress
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2015
$ 10,624,914
10,272,667
4,214,868
1,783,461
1,244,930
265,925
127,182
28,533,947
( 6,105,187)
$ 22,428,760

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015

Note 4 - Property and Equipment (continued)
For the year ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, depreciation expense was $1,043,909 and
$994,617, respectively.
The Organization leases its former group homes to unrelated third parties. Leases are for
one-year terms. The Organization is still evaluating the sale or use of these former group
homes, and accordingly, these real properties are still classified as held and used as of
June 30, 2016. The Organization also leases commercial space in Solano and Santa Rosa,
California, to other organizations, and leases land in Oakland, California to a
communications company. Total lease income for the year ended June 30, 2016 and
2015, is $197,561 and $192,460, respectively, and is included in other revenue.
In December 2014 the Organization received an unrestricted in-kind contribution of real
estate located in Fairfield, California, valued at $530,000. See Note 6 for information on
the fair value measurement of this contribution.
In August 2015, the Organization purchased real property in Petaluma, California, for
$1,574,625, from a nonprofit organization who later became an affiliate.
The fair
market value was determined using a third-party appraiser.

Note 5 - Investments
The fair values of securities have been measured on a recurring basis using quoted prices
for identical assets in active markets (Level 1 inputs). The table below presents the
balances of investment assets measured at fair value as of June 30, 2016 and 2015:
2016
Mutual funds
Equities
Real estate fund
Money market funds
Pooled securities

$

$

95
11,072
11,167

2015
$ 717,018
558,512
46,926
25,776
11,853
$ 1,360,085

Investment return for the year ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, is summarized as follows:
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June 30, 2016 and 2015
Note 5 – Investments (continued)
2016
Interest and dividends, including interest on
restricted cash
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses)
Investment fees

$
(
(
$

179,056
141,965)
17,801)
19,290

2015
$ 158,452
( 139,679)
( 21,352)
($ 2,579)

All investment return is classified as unrestricted in the statement of activities.

Note 6 - Fair Value Measurements
The table below presents the balances of assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a
recurring basis:
Level 1

June 30, 2016

June 30, 2015

Mutual funds
Equities
Real estate fund

$

-

$

$

-

$ 1,322,456

$

11,072

717,018
558,512
46,926

Level 2
Pooled securities

$

11,853

The fair values of equities, real estate fund and mutual funds have been measured on a
recurring basis using quoted prices for identical assets in active markets (Level 1 inputs).
The fair value of pooled securities has been measured on a recurring basis using quoted
prices in active markets for the same or similar assets (Level 2 inputs).
The table below presents transactions measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis
during the year:
June 30, 2016
June 30, 2015
Contribution of real estate
$
$
530,000
Other in-kind contributions
329,500
349,844
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June 30, 2016 and 2015
Note 6 - Fair Value Measurements
The fair value of contributed real estate is measured on a non-recurring basis at the time
of contribution, based on a third party appraisal. The fair values of other in-kind
contributions are measured on a non-recurring basis using quoted prices for similar assets
in inactive markets (Level 2 inputs). The fair values of pledged contributions are
measured on a non-recurring basis, based on the value provided by the donor at the date
of the pledge (Level 3 inputs).
The following table provides detail activity for assets with Level 3 fair value
measurements:
June 30, 2016
June 30, 2015
Pledges receivable, beginning of year
$
117,200
$
167,200
Pledged contributions
50,000
Pledges collected
(
-)
(
50,000)
Pledges receivable, end of year
$
167,200
$
117,200

Note 7 - Restricted Cash
As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, cash has been restricted for the following purposes:
2016
Held in trust for payments on bonds payable –
see Note 12

$ 261,473

2015
$ 261,196

Note 8 - Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, consist of the following:
2016
$ 1,940,649
3,682,812
1,841,511
798,496
409,646
$ 8,673,114

Wages
Vacation
Payroll taxes and benefits
Private insurance offset
Real estate taxes
Lease obligations
Other liabilities
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2015
$ 1,685,023
3,120,057
817,879
653,360
130,394
4,492
197,693
$ 6,608,898

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015
Note 9 - Lines of Credit
The Organization has a line of credit with a bank for $2,000,000, which will expire in
January 2017. Interest is computed at a floating rate per annum equal to the LIBOR rate.
The line of credit is secured by real property. There was no balance outstanding at June
30, 2016 and 2015.
The Organization has an irrevocable letter of credit with a bank for $2,770,000, which
will expire in January 2017. Interest is computed at the bank’s prime rate plus 2.939%, up
to the limit allowed by law. There was no balance outstanding as of June 30, 2016 and
2015.

Note 10 - Liability for Overpayments Received
Timing differences in recording terminations from the various programs result in receipts
for services relating to children who have left the programs. These receipts may be
refundable to the county agencies providing the funds. Accordingly, the Organization
records these amounts as a liability. The Organization is contacted by county agencies on
a child-by-child basis or a contract basis regarding the repayment process.
If no action or response to inquiries on overpayments is received by the Organization five
years subsequent to receipt of funds, the funds are recognized as income. Under this
policy, $96,327 and $189,190 of overpayments were taken into income in the years ended
June 30, 2016 and 2015, and have been included in other revenue on the statement of
activities.

Note 11 - Notes Payable
Notes payable as of June 30 consist of the following:
2016
Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $14,159,
including interest at 4.420%, due March 2032.
Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $9,339, including
interest at 3.520%, due March 2025.
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$

2015

1,908,980 $ 1,991,028

1,529,666

1,585,614

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015

Note 11 - Notes Payable (continued)
2016

2015

Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $6,863, including
interest at 3.590%, due May 2025.

1,313,014

1,346,772

Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $8,783, including
interest at 4.570%, due September 2033.

1,253,088

1,299,678

Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $6,609, including
interest at 3.590%, due May 2025.

1,265,866

1,298,321

Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $8,740, including
interest at 4.220%, due June 2025.

1,211,619

1,240,000

Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $2,571, including
interest at 3.590%, due May 2025.

491,991

504,640

Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $1,087, including
interest at 4.220%, due June 2025.

195,422

200,000

Note payable to state agency, secured by real
property, payable in monthly installments of $2,762,
including interest at 3.0%, due May 2019.

92,461

122,347

Note payable to state agency, secured by real
property, payable in monthly installments of
$1,408.66, including interest at 3.00%, due
September 2019.

38,918

50,154

Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $3,347.30,
including initial interest at 3.74%, due April 2026.

645,408

18

-

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015
Note 11 - Notes Payable (continued)
2016

2015

Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $6,739.84,
including initial interest at 4.07%, due August 2025.

1,235,218

-

Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $4,138.67,
including initial interest at 1.98%, due December
2025.

959,702

-

Note payable to bank, secured by real property,
payable in monthly installments of $5,570.06,
including initial interest at 4.25%, due July 2019.

195,307

-

Total notes payable
Current portion

12,336,660
9,638,554
(
515,754) ( 369,004)
$ 11,820,906 $9,269,550

Debt maturities of notes payable are as follows:
Year ending June 30,
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter

$

515,754
536,791
555,937
478,386
486,273
9,763,519
$ 12,336,660

Note 12 - Bonds Payable
On March 1, 2006, the Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development of the State
of California issued bonds payable in the principal amount of $2,910,000 to Kinship
Center. The Organization assumed this liability in the acquisition of Kinship Center as of
July 1, 2011.
The bonds bear interest at a gradually increasing rate ranging from 3.35% in 2006 to
4.65% in 2031, with staggered maturities through March 1, 2031. The proceeds from the
sale of the certificates were used to refinance an existing note payable on property in
Monterey County. The balance outstanding on the bonds payable at June 30, 2016 and
2015 was $2,080,000 and $2,175,000, with current portions of $95,000 and $95,000,
respectively.
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Note 12 - Bonds Payable (continued)
As required by the terms of the bond’s regulatory agreement, the Organization is required
to satisfy certain restrictive covenants which, among other terms, requires the
maintenance of certain financial ratios and operational levels, places limits on other
indebtedness, and requires certain informational reports. The Organization substantially
met its debt covenants at June 30, 2016 and 2015.
The Organization has pledged security interests in revenue and in certain real property,
fixtures, and personal property.
Maturities for the bonds are as follows:
Year ending June 30,
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter

$

95,000
95,000
95,000
95,000
95,000
1,605,000
$ 2,080,000

Cash held in trust at June 30, 2016 and 2015, related to the bonds payable, consists of the
following:
Bond reserve fund
Interest reserve fund
Principal reserve fund
Revenue fund

$

$

20

2016
196,973
31,583
32,917
261,473

$

$

2015
196,973
32,557
31,666
261,196

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015

Note 13 - Temporarily Restricted Net Assets
Temporarily restricted net assets at June 30, 2016 and 2015, are restricted as to timing
and purpose, for use as follows:
2016
Gates Foundation
NoCal South County Clinic
NoCal Placement
San Benito Placement
SoCal Placement
Education institute
Family Ties
Kaiser Trauma Grant
Recruitment
SoCal Family Funding
REACH Program
I Padrini Family Finding Fund
I3 Federal Grant
Education Fund
Pfeiffer Foundation
Ranch Mental Health Clinic
Friends Funds
Parent Child Interactive Therapy
Ranch Roof
Building Blocks
Funds and programs with less than $10,000
at year end

2015

$ 422,352
271,444
150,243
150,000
78,165
78,109
69,021
63,333
47,529
54,625
27,077
25,931
23,035
20,311
20,000
17,666
17,189
13,409
-

$

173,504
259,000
46,015
113,698
10,000
68,421
45,246
27,077
27,848
173,081
20,311
16,388
25,977
30,000
28,290

24,233
$1,573,672

20,689
$1,085,545

Note 14 - Permanently Restricted Net Assets
Permanently restricted net assets represent contributions where the donor has stipulated
that the principal is to be kept intact in perpetuity and only the interest and dividends
therefrom may be expended for unrestricted purposes. At June 30, 2016 and 2015,
permanently restricted net assets were $65,175.
Generally accepted accounting principles provide guidance on the net asset classification
of donor-restricted endowment fund for a nonprofit organization and also require
additional disclosures about an organization’s endowment funds.
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Note 14 - Permanently Restricted Net Assets (continued)
The Organization classifies as permanently restricted net assets the original value of the
gifts to the permanent endowment, the original value of subsequent gifts to the permanent
endowment, and accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with
the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added
to the funds. The remaining portion of the donor restricted endowment fund that is not
classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net
assets until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure.
The Organization has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets to
provide a predictable stream of revenues for operating activities and to preserve the
purchasing power of the endowment assets.
The Organization’s endowment funds are held in its investment accounts. Changes to the
endowment net assets are as follows:
Beginning balance July 1, 2014

$

Ending balance June 30, 2015
Ending balance June 30, 2016

$

65,175
65,175
65,175

All investment returns related to endowment assets were transferred to unrestricted net
assets, as directed by the board spending policy.

Note 15 - Government Contract Revenues
Government contract revenues for the year ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, consist of the
following:

Community based programs
Education and school based programs
Foster care and permanency
Cost settlement and other
contract adjustments
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2016
2015
$50,648,747 $42,212,286
35,579,720
34,070,194
6,388,564
6,281,807
75,492
$92,692,523

583,232
$83,147,519

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015

Note 16 - Other Revenue
Other revenue for the year ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, consists of the following:

Management services
Family finding and identification services
Lease income
Overpayments recognized
Computer consulting
Gain on sale of fixed assets (affiliate)
Other

2016
78,000
234,811
197,561
96,327
66,000
862,054
426,446
$ 1,961,198

$

2015
$ 681,619
269,670
192,460
189,190
66,281
204,283
$1,603,503

Management services and other transactions with Family Life Center - In August 2014,
the Organization began assisting with the management of operations of Family Life
Center (FLC). Management duties include program operations, fiscal management and
other consulting. Fees for these services are based on the salary and benefits for
personnel providing the services, plus an 18.5% fee. The Organization signed an
affiliation agreement with FLC effective October 8, 2015.
Revenues under the management agreement totaled $204,406 and $681,219 for the year
ended June 30, 2016, and 2015, respectively, of which $126,406 was earned after the
affiliation agreement was in effect. $66,023 was due to the Organization as of June 30,
2016, and has been eliminated in consolidation. $131,619 is due to the Organization as of
June 30, 2015, and is included in other receivables on the balance sheet.
The Organization also has extended credit, not to exceed $1.5 million, for the operations
of FLC. Interest is being charged at the Wall Street Journal prime rate, compounded
daily. The line of credit is secured by real estate, and is due on demand. As of June 30,
2016, and 2015, the Organization has extended FLC $498,412 and $1,395,000,
respectively, in credit. As of June 30, 2015, the amount due from FLC is shown as a note
receivable. As of June 30, 2016, the receivable has been eliminated in consolidation.
In August 2015, the Organization purchased real property from FLC. See Note 4.
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Note 17 - Operating Lease Commitments
The Organization leases facilities and equipment under operating leases expiring in
various years through June 2019. A majority of these leases are on a month-to-month
basis.
Lease expense was $1,624,105 for the year ended June 30, 2016 and $1,657,605 for the
year ended June 30, 2015.
Minimum future rental payments under these leases are as follows:
Year ending June 30,
2017
2018
2019

$

$

285,794
183,855
125,918
595,567

Note 18 – Other Commitments, Reserves and Contingencies
Pursuant to county, state and federal requirements for funding community service
centers, the Organization's grants and contracts are subject to inspection and audit by the
appropriate governmental funding agencies. The purpose is to determine whether
program funds were used in accordance with their respective guidelines and regulations.
The potential exists for disallowance of previously funded program costs. The ultimate
liability, if any, which may result from these governmental audits cannot be reasonably
estimated and, accordingly, the organization has no provision for the possible
disallowance of program costs on its financial statements.
The Organization is primarily funded through county, state and federal government
contracts, which are subject to political, financial and operational risks which may affect
the ongoing funding of contracts. To protect from any fiscal impact of changing contract
terms potentially leading to sudden and unexpected loss of revenue, the Organization
established a contracts contingency reserve. The reserve is based on a percentage of
certain program revenues.

24

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015

Note 18 – Other Commitments, Reserves and Contingencies (continued)
The Organization is fully self-insured through the state of California for its workers’
compensation insurance costs. The Organization is liable for costs up to $500,000 per
claim, with state and third-party insurance coverage for costs in excess of such amounts.
Self-insurance costs are accrued based on claims reported as of the statement of financial
position date as well as an estimated liability for claims incurred but not yet reported.
In a prior year, the Organization converted from a self-insured employee health plan to a
traditional plan with an insurance company, as a cost saving measure. Outstanding selfinsurance costs have been accrued based on claims reported as of the statement of
financial position date as well as an estimated liability for claims incurred but not yet
reported.
Total reserves on the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 are as
follows:
2016
2015
$ 3,254,393 $ 3,005,028
820,000
830,000
19,921
19,921
4,094,314
3,854,949
( 534,652) ( 925,067)
$ 3,559,662 $ 2,929,882

Workers’ compensation
Contracts contingency
Employee health insurance
Current portion

Note 19 - Concentration of Credit Risk
The Organization maintains cash balances and money market accounts at various
financial institutions, which are FDIC insured up to the limits allowed by law. At times
such balances may exceed the insurance limit. The Organization has not experienced any
losses in such accounts, and management believes the Organization is not exposed to any
significant credit risk related to cash.
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Note 20 – Retirement Plan
Effective October 1, 2015, all employees with over 1,000 hours of service are covered by
a 403b tax deferred annuity plan; previous to this date, only certain personnel employed
as a result of a merger with another nonprofit organization in 2011 were covered.
Employees are eligible to participate in the plan immediately, and are eligible for
employer discretionary contributions after 24 months of service. Participants may elect
to defer a percentage of their salaries, up to the amounts allowed by law. Employer
contributions are at the discretion of the board of directors. For the year ended June 30,
2016, $902,071 of employer contributions have been accrued as an expense.

Note 21 - Subsequent Events
Management has evaluated subsequent events through December 15, 2016, the date on
which the financial statements were available to be issued.
Acquisitions:
Above the Line - Effective July 1, 2016, the Organization has acquired all of the assets
and liabilities of Above the Line, a nonprofit organization providing foster care and
adoption services in Aptos, California. The acquisition strengthened the continuum of
services offered to children and families in Santa Cruz county. No consideration was
transferred in the acquisition. The Organization acquired assets and assumed liabilities,
recorded at their fair market values, as follows:
Cash
Accounts receivable
Deposits and other assets
Fixed assets
Total assets acquired

$144,230
54,763
6,195
808
$205,996

Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Total liabilities assumed

$ 29,616
26,063
$ 55,679

The fair market value of the receivables is equal to contract value, as all amounts at June
30, 2016 are considered collectible.
The Organization will record the excess value of the acquired assets over the liabilities
assumed as contribution revenue on July 1, 2016.
26

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015

Note 21 - Subsequent Events (continued)
Acquisitions (continued):
Family Life Center - Effective January 1, 2017, the Organization will acquire all of the
assets and liabilities of its affiliate Family Life Center. The Organization is in the process
of valuing the assets and liabilities of Family Life Center.

Refinance of notes payable with bond financing:
In November 2016 the board of directors approved the issuance of tax exempt bonds not
to exceed $19,500,000 and sale of taxable bonds not to exceed $16,000,000 for the
purpose of refinancing prior indebtedness, funding of certain capital projects and the
acquisition of additional real and personal property to further the Organization’s mission.
In December 2016, the approved Bond financing closed and as of December 15, 2016,
$2,902,031 of existing debt and closing costs has been refinanced into California
Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank Tax-Exempt Revenue Bonds Series
2016A. The Organization will have until December 14, 2018 to roll its existing debt into
the tax exempt revenue bonds as well as utilized the taxable bonds. Access to the taxable
portion of the bonds will require bank approval and will be converted into tax exempt
bonds provided all properties are tax exempt. Principal payments begin January 2019
including expected interest at 2.8% with final payment due December 2036.
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Supplementary Information

Seneca Family of Agencies
Schedule of Expenditures of Alameda County Grants
Year Ended June 30, 2016

Program Name

Behavioral Health Care Services

Procurement Contract Number

11649

Board P.O

7085

Exhibit Number (or Description)

900121

Contract Period

07/01/15-06/30/16

Contract Amount

$

21,071,973

$

15,609,177
2,177,465
2,161,077

Total Expenses

$

19,947,719

Amount reimbursed by county

$

18,708,736

Expenses
Salaries and PR benefits
Operating Expenses
Admin Allocation

See auditor's report
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Federal

Pass-Through

CFDA Number

Grantor's Number

Expenditures
Federal

Nonfederal

Total

Grantor / Program Title
Department of Health & Human Services:
Foster Care Title IV-E

93.658

$

1,251,899

$

2,300,254

$

3,552,153

Pass-through - San Francisco Community
93.658

527,000

-

527,000

Pass-through - Alameda County, California

College District

93.658

580,000

-

580,000

Pass-through - Solano County, California

93.658

105,207

-

105,207

Pass-through - Monterey County, California

93.658

96,800

-

96,800

Pass-through - Santa Clara County, California

93.658

14,000

-

Subtotal - Foster Care Title IV-E

14,000

2,574,906

2,300,254

4,875,160

1,255,298

2,203,539

Adoption Assistance

93.659

948,241

Family Connections

93.605

180,528

-

180,528

Pass-through - California Department of Education
Child Development Division, State
Preschool

93.596

CSPP-5021

19,874

-

19,874

93.575

CSPP-5021

6,816

-

6,816

93.670

90CA1825-01-01

5,619

-

5,619

93.556

FYC-SFA-PSSF-1416

Pass-through - California Department of Education
Child Development Division, State
Preschool
Pass-through - King County, Washington
Child Abuse and Neglect
Pass-through - Sonoma County, California
Promoting Safe and Stable Families

89,688

-

3,825,672

89,688

3,555,552

7,381,224

Department of Education:
Investing in Innovation (i3) Fund

84.411

1,076,959

-

1,076,959

Department of Justice:
Pass-through - City and County of San Francisco
Second Chance Act Reentry Initiative

16.812

946000455

15,376

-

15,376

16.745

946000455

123,284

-

123,284

16.738

BSCC 608-14

417,019

-

417,019

555,679

-

555,679

Criminal and Juvenile Justice and Mental
Health Collaboration
Pass-through - Sonoma County, California
Keeping Kids in School

Department of Agriculture:
Pass-through - California State Department
of Agriculture
National Breakfast Program

10.553

161309703

7,944

-

7,944

National Lunch Program

10.555

161309703

24,575

-

24,575

32,519

-

32,519

Pass-through - California Department of Education:
Child Development Division
State Preschool

CSPP - 5021

$

-

56,284

56,284

-

56,284

56,284

5,490,829

$

See auditors' report.
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal and nonfederal awards.
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3,611,836

$

9,102,665

SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and Nonfederal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2016

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal and nonfederal awards includes
the federal grant activity of Seneca Family of Agencies under programs of the federal
government for the year ended June 30, 2016. The information in this schedule is
presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the schedule presents
only a selected portion of the operations of Seneca Family of Agencies, it is not intended
to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of
Seneca Family of Agencies.
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform
Guidance, Cost Principles for Non-profit Organizations, wherein certain types of
expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.
Note 3 – Indirect Cost Rate
Seneca Family of Agencies has elected to not use the 10% de minimus indirect cost rate
as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.
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Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Audit Committee of
Seneca Family of Agencies
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial
statements of Seneca Family of Agencies (a California non-profit public benefit corporation), which
comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2016, and the related statements of
activities and changes in net assets, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and
the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 15,
2016.
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Seneca
Family of Agencies’ internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Seneca
Family of Agencies’ internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Seneca Family of Agencies' internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency,
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged in governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that
might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit
we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Seneca Family of Agencies’
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
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Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on Internal
Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance
To the Audit Committee of
Seneca Family of Agencies
REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM
We have audited Seneca Family of Agencies’ compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material
effect on each of Seneca Family of Agencies’ major federal programs for the year ended June 30,
2016. Seneca Family of Agencies’ major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal awards applicable programs.
AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Seneca Family of Agencies’
major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).
Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about Seneca Family of Agencies’ compliance
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Seneca Family of
Agencies’ compliance.
OPINION ON EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM
In our opinion, Seneca Family of Agencies complied, in all material respects, with the types
of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of
its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2016.
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SENECA FAMILY OF AGENCIES
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2016
Summary of Auditors’ Results
1.

The auditors’ report expresses an unmodified opinion on the financial statements of Seneca
Family of Agencies.

2.

No significant deficiencies related to the audit of the financial statements are reported in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

3.

No instances of non-compliance material to financial statements of Seneca Family of
Agencies, which would be required to be reported in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards, were disclosed during the audit.

4.

No significant deficiencies relating to the audit of the major federal award programs are
reported in the Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Program
and on Internal Control over Compliance Required by Uniform Guidance.

5.

The auditors report on compliance for the major federal award programs for Seneca Family
of Agencies expresses an unqualified auditors’ report on all major programs.

6.

No audit findings that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR section
200.516(a) were identified.

7.

The programs tested as major programs include:
CFDA #93.659 Adoption Assistance
CFDA #16.738 Keeping Kids in School

$948,241
$417,019

8.

The dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs is $750,000.

9.

Seneca Family of Agencies was determined to be a low-risk auditee.

Financial Statement Findings
No matters were reported.
Findings and Questioned Costs – Major Federal Awards Program Audit
No matters were reported.
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APPENDIX E
Organization Chart

Mental Health Services Act (MHSA)
Program and Fiscal Review

I.

Name of Program:

Telecare – Hope House
300 Ilene Street, Martinez, CA 94553

II.

Review Team:

Stephanie Chenard, Betsy Orme, Warren Hayes

III.

Date of On-site Review: February 10 and 15, 2017
Date of Exit Meeting:
July 27, 2017

IV.

Program Description:
Telecare Corporation operates Hope House, a
voluntary, highly structured 16-bed Short-Term Crisis Residential Facility (CRF)
for adults. Hope House serves individuals who require crisis support to avoid
hospitalization, or are discharging from the hospital or long-term locked facilities,
and need step-down care to transition back to community living. The focus is
client-centered and recovery-focused, and underscores the concept of personal
responsibility for the resident's illness and independence. The program supports
a social rehabilitation model, which is designed to enhance an individual's social
connection with family and community so that they can move back into the
community and prevent a hospitalization. Services are recovery based, and
tailored to the unique strengths of each individual resident. The program offers
an environment where residents have the power to make decisions, are
supported as they look at their own life experiences, set their own paths toward
recovery, and work towards the fulfillment of their hopes and dreams. Telecare’s
program is designed to enhance client motivation to actively participate in
treatment, provide clients with intensive assistance in accessing community
resources, and assist clients develop strategies to maintain independent living in
the community and improve their overall quality of life. The program’s service
design draws on evidence-based practices such as Wellness Action and
Recovery Planning (WRAP), motivational interviewing, and integrated treatment
for co-occurring disorders.

V.

Purpose of Review.
Contra Costa Behavioral Health Services (CCBHS) is
committed to evaluating the effective use of funds provided by the Mental Health
Services Act (MHSA). Toward this end a comprehensive program and fiscal
review was conducted of Telecare’s Hope House Crisis Residential Program.
The results of this review are contained herein, and will assist in a) improving the
1

services and supports that are provided; b) more efficiently support the County’s
MHSA Three Year Program and Expenditure Plan; and c) ensure compliance
with statute, regulations and policy. In the spirit of continually working toward
better services we most appreciate this opportunity to collaborate together with
the staff and clients participating in this program in order to review past and
current efforts, and plan for the future.

VI.

Summary of Findings.
Topic
1. Deliver services according to the
values of the MHSA

Met
Notes
Standard
Services promote recovery,
Met
wellness and resiliency.

2. Serve the agreed upon target
population.

Met

Residents meet target
population.

3. Provide the services for which
funding was allocated.

Met

All MHSA funds directly
support approved crisis
residential services.

4. Meet the needs of the
community and/or population.

Met

Residents verify services meet
their needs.

5. Serve the number of individuals
that have been agreed upon.

Not Met

Hope House does not meet
their target monthly census
goal.

6. Achieve the outcomes that have
been agreed upon.

Partially
Met

Hope House is currently
meeting several of its
outcomes.

7. Quality Assurance

Partially
Met

The County needs to assist in
implementing Level 1
utilization review process.
The program is HIPAA
compliant

8. Ensure protection of
confidentiality of protected
health information.
9. Staffing sufficient for the
program

10. Annual independent fiscal audit
performed.

Met

Not Met

Staffing level not sufficient to
support targeted service
numbers

Met

No audit findings were noted.
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VII.

11. Fiscal resources sufficient to
deliver and sustain the services

Met

Resources appear sufficient.

12. Oversight sufficient to comply
with generally accepted
accounting principles

Met

Experienced staff implements
sound check and balance
system.

13. Documentation sufficient to
support invoices

Met

Uses established software
program with appropriate
supporting documentation
protocol.

14. Documentation sufficient to
support allowable expenditures

Met

Method of accounting for
personnel time and operating
costs appear to be supported.

15. Documentation sufficient to
support expenditures invoiced in
appropriate fiscal year

Met

No billings noted for previous
fiscal year expenses.

16. Administrative costs sufficiently
justified and appropriate to the
total cost of the program

Met

Methodology supports indirect
rate of 16%.

17. Insurance policies sufficient to
comply with contract

Met

Necessary insurance is in
place

18. Effective communication
between contract manager and
contractor

Partially
Met

Review Results.

County needs to solidify roles
of Transition Team and
contract manager to enable
regular, coordinated program
and contract communication.

The review covered the following areas:

1. Deliver services according to the values of the Mental Health Services Act
(California Code of Regulations Section 3320 – MHSA General Standards).
Does the program/plan element collaborate with the community, provide an
integrated service experience, promote wellness, recovery and resilience, be
culturally competent, and be client and family driven.
Method. Consumer, family member and service provider interviews and
consumer surveys.
Discussion. As part of the site visits 10 consumers were interviewed as a
group, and additional input was obtained by 7 consumers who completed a
written survey prior to the site visits. We also spoke to several different staff
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members, including staff from the organization management team, program
management staff, administrative staff, and line staff.

Survey Results:

Questions
Please indicate how strongly you
agree or disagree with the
following statements regarding
persons who work with you:
1. Help me improve my health and
wellness.
2. Allow me to decide what my own
strengths and needs
3. Work with me to determine the
services that are most helpful
4. Provide services that are sensitive
to my cultural background.
5. Provide services that are in my
preferred language
6. Help me in getting needed health,
employment, education and other
benefits and services.
7. Are open to my opinions as to
how services should be provided
8. What does this program do well?

9. What does this program need to
improve upon?

10. What needed services and
supports are missing?

Responses: n=7
Strongly Agree Disagree Strongly I don’t
Agree
Disagree know
4
3
2
1
n/a
Average score: 3.42 (n=7)
Average score: 3.14 (n=7)
Average score: 2.86 (n=7)
Average score: 2.8 (n=5)
Average score: 3.29 (n=7)
Average score: 3.17 (n=6)

Average score: 2.86 (n=7)
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Helped with school
Non-judgmentally (sic)
Providing quality meals & shelter
Help with housing
Expression of desires
Staff being interrupted by their cell phones
while working with clients.
Housing
Transportation
Being treated with respect not like a
problem. Staff doing things in a timely
manner.
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11. How important is this program in
helping you improve your health
and wellness, live a self-directed
life, and reach your full potential?

Very
Important Somewhat
Important
Important
4
3
2
Average score: 3.00 (n=4)

12. Any additional comments?

•

Not
Important
1

I really appreciate the help

Consumer Interview
The resident consumer group interview was attended by approximately 10
consumers of mixed genders, ethnicities, and ages. The individuals interviewed
had been staying at Hope House from a couple of days to a few weeks.
Overall, the interview participants were very appreciative of the services provided
by Hope House and most reported that Hope House staff are very responsive to
their needs. During the interviews, things that the residents specifically identified
as positives of the program were:
• Feeling safe and secure
• Assistance with things like haircuts, new clothes/shoes, and other grooming
and hygiene needs
• The schedule of classes and activities felt manageable – the residents did not
feel rushed, or like they were forced to participate.
• The Hope House staff and County worked together to help create a safe
support system
• The program helped some residents improve their relationships with their
families.
These positives speak squarely to the MHSA values. However, there were also
some areas identified by the residents for improvement. Some of these issues
were:
• More time with the doctor who came to conduct assessments and evaluations
• More focused one-on-one time with staff
• A few residents noted that staff were often on their cell phones, which felt like
a distraction
• More assistance with getting connected with County case managers
• Some of the resource materials made available were out of date.
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Staff Interview:
Five program staff members were interviewed during the site visit. Staff shared
that each of them have had some kind of personal background with mental
illness and recovery in their lives, several of whom had been with Telecare in
other capacities for a number of years. Most of the staff have specific roles
(administration, medical, counseling, etc.) and shifts are staggered to ensure
adequate coverage and support for residents 24/7. The residential counselors
are trained in the Telecare curriculum to be able to offer the various classes.
Staff also indicated that a portion of the classes and activities are driven by
resident request.
Results. Hope House staff appear to implement services according to the
values of the Mental Health Services Act.
2. Serve the agreed upon target population. For Community Services and
Supports, does the program serve adults with a serious mental illness. Does the
program serve the agreed upon target population (such as age group,
underserved community).
Method. Compare the program description and/or service work plan with a
random sampling of client charts or case files.
Discussion. As a matter of regular practice Hope House staff verify with County
staff that all residents meet medical necessity, experience serious mental illness,
and are in need of crisis stabilization. This referral and billing practice was
matched by verifying observation of residents participating in the consumer group
meeting.
Results. The program serves the agreed upon target population.
3. Provide the services for which funding was allocated. Does the program
provide the number and type of services that have been agreed upon.
Method. Compare the service work plan or program service goals with regular
reports and match with case file reviews and client/family member and service
provider interviews.
Discussion. A review of the monthly report shows that the program appears to
provide the number and type of services that have been agreed upon in the
Service Work plan, and discussion with the staff and residents reveals that the
program is providing a clear level of crisis stabilization services around
medication support, basic living tasks, crisis mitigation techniques, and other
intensive mental health services.
Results. Appropriate crisis residential services are provided by Hope House
with appropriate intensive mental health specialty services for the residents.
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4. Meet the needs of the community and/or population. Is the program meeting
the needs of the population/community for which it was designed. Has the
program been authorized by the Board of Supervisors as a result of a community
program planning process. Is the program consistent with the MHSA Three Year
Program and Expenditure Plan.
Method. Research the authorization and inception of the program for adherence
to the Community Program Planning Process. Match the service work plan or
program description with the Three Year Plan. Compare with consumer/family
member and service provider interviews. Review client surveys.
Discussion. These crisis residential services have been authorized by the
Board of Supervisors after a community program planning process identifying
crisis housing services as a priority need. Consumer interviews and surveys
indicate that Hope House is meeting their needs.
Results. Hope House appears to be meeting the needs of the population for
which it was designed.
5. Serve the number of individuals that have been agreed upon. Has the
program been serving the number of individuals specified in the program
description/service work plan, and how has the number served been trending the
last three years.
Method. Match program description/service work plan with history of monthly
reports and verify with supporting documentation, such as logs, sign-in sheets
and case files.
Discussion. Supporting documentation indicates that there are 16 possible
beds open to the County. Due to the short-term nature of the program, the
average census for each month can vary, however, the established census goal
is a monthly average of 12. This allows them to be immediately responsive to
consumers in high-need situations. In FY 15/16, Hope House achieved 11.25,
and monthly and quarterly reports in the FY 16/17 indicate between 10 to 12.
While Hope House often comes close to this outcome goal, they frequently do
not meet this outcome. Hope House works with several programs for referrals,
including the County Psychiatric Emergency Services, the County hospital inpatient psychiatric unit, other psychiatric hospitals in the Bay Area, and other
community referrals. Discussions with several County departments and
programs that have contact with Hope House revealed that there have been
enough referrals from the County recently and there is demonstrated need for
Hope House beds; enough to hit or exceed their goal census. However, Hope
House’s admission process has been slow and has delayed placements, often
for several days. This may be due to recent staff turnover, as well as the
referral/admission process itself. County staff from these departments have
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indicated the necessity for greater flexibility and responsiveness in the Hope
House admission process to more smoothly place consumers in high-need
situations. County staff have also indicated a desire for more clarity and shared
definitions on admission criteria for potential referrals.
Results. The program does not meet the target number of individuals that have
been referred to their facility by Contra Costa County. It is recommended that
Hope House work with the County on a process to streamline their admission
process in order to be more responsive to the referrals in a timely manner.
Please see Appendix A for Program Response

6. Achieve the outcomes that have been agreed upon. Is the program meeting
the agreed upon outcome goals, and how has the outcomes been trending.
Method. Match outcomes reported for the last three years with outcomes
projected in the program description/service work plan, and verify validity of
outcome with supporting documentation, such as case files or charts. Outcome
domains include, as appropriate, incidence of restriction, incidence of psychiatric
crisis, meaningful activity, psychiatric symptoms, consumer satisfaction/quality of
life, and cost effectiveness. Analyze the level of success by the context, as
appropriate, of pre- and post-intervention, control versus experimental group,
year-to-year difference, comparison with similar programs, or measurement to a
generally accepted standard.
Discussion. Outcome goals are reported in terms of “MHSA Mandated
Objectives” and “Contra Costa County Mandated Objectives.” The MHSAspecific objectives/outcomes for Hope House center on “supporting family
members and significant others” as a key part of the treatment plan. To address
this, Hope House welcomes family members into the treatment whenever
possible. In FY 15/16, they worked with 154 resident’s families and facilitated
113 face-to-face sessions with family members at the facility. The program
employed 2 Peer Counselors to help better serve this objective. They are
presently on-track to meet goals for the current fiscal year.
Contra Costa Behavioral Health Services outcomes focus on 1) maintaining a
monthly average census of at least 12 residents, and 2) an average length of
stay of 14 days or less. Please see above discussion for the census topic. As
for the average length of stay, Hope House reported for FY 15/16 an average
stay of 18 days – higher than the stated outcome. However, at the time of the
review, it was revealed that County Case Managers were having difficulties
finding placements before the 30 day closing time period for the program.
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Moreover, it was also disclosed that many consumers can benefit from a longer
stay. In recent monthly reports, Hope House has indicated average lengths of
stay being reduced down to 11 days, meeting this outcome measure.
Results. Hope House appears to be partially meeting the prescribed outcomes
in the service agreement. It is recommended that the County revisit the Service
Work Plan to adjust the 14 day stay outcome to better reflect the needs of the
consumers. Recommendations for the census outcome have been previously
noted.
Please see Appendix A for Program Response

7. Quality Assurance. How does the program assure quality of service provision.
Method. Review and report on results of participation in County’s utilization
review, quality management incidence reporting, and other appropriate means of
quality of service review.
Discussion. CCBHS did not receive any grievances associated with Hope
House’s crisis residential program. The program has an internal grievance
procedure in place, and clients receive information on how to file complaints as
part of the agency’s Notice of Privacy Practices. The program has not undergone
a regular Level 1 utilization review conducted by the County Mental Health
utilization review teams to ensure that program services and documentation meet
regulatory standards. On October 13, 2016, a Level Two Centralized Utilization
Chart Reviews and a Focused Review were conducted by County Mental Health
on Hope House’s charts. The results show that charts generally met
documentation standards, but there were several compliance issues, including
missing forms (consent for treatment, consumer guide, etc.), and other
incomplete or incorrect forms that were identified in the review. There were
several other findings related to disallowances for Initial Assessments that were
not completed, illegible, improperly billed, or unclear on diagnosis. There were
also significant disallowances based on Partnership Plans that were missing,
incomplete, or not updated to accurately reflect a resident’s length of stay. There
were additional, smaller disallowances regarding a variety of issues with
progress notes: missing progress notes, incomplete notes, not documenting
billable services, mis-categorized notes, and other related issues. Hope House’s
Program Director submitted a Plan of Correction to the County November 26,
2016 indicating the new protocols for quality assurance, training, and increased
communication with the County to address the issues in the Focused Review.
The newly implemented processes were confirmed during the chart review
process at the site visit by the review team.
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Further, with the recent implementation of the DSM-V, the County Transition
team has expressed that Hope House’s clinical documentation frequently does
not match the new DSM-V diagnostic criteria, which impacts the utilization review
compliance for these charts.
Results. The program has a quality assurance process in place. However, it is
recommended that the County’s Transition Team work with Hope House to
institute regular Level 1 reviews to ensure compliance criteria are communicated
with the program. It is also recommended that Hope House work with the
Transition Team to get current with DSM-V guidelines.
Please see Appendix A for Program Response

8. Ensure protection of confidentiality of protected health information. What
protocols are in place to comply with the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Assurance (HIPAA) Act, and how well does staff comply with the
protocol.
Method. Match the HIPAA Business Associate service contract attachment with
the observed implementation of the program’s implementation of a protocol for
safeguarding protected patient health information.
Discussion. Hope House staff demonstrated their protocol as well as provided
their written policy for protection of patient health information. All were in
accordance with the HIPAA Business Associate service contract attachment.
Results. Hope House appears to be in compliance with HIPAA requirements.
9. Staffing sufficient for the program. Is there sufficient dedicated staff to deliver
the services, evaluate the program for sufficiency of outcomes and continuous
quality improvement, and provide sufficient administrative support.
Method. Match history of program response with organization chart, staff
interviews and duty statements.
Discussion. Telecare has an organizational structure of filled positions
indicating a sufficient number and type of staff to support their operations, and
particularly for the Hope House program. The Program Director recently left, and
the organization restructured the administrative configuration by hiring a Clinical
Director to oversee the clinical programmatic portions, and the Program
Administrator oversees the administrative and business duties. This
restructuring and redefining of duties and roles seems to have streamlined Hope
House’s management process.
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The experience level of the line staff appeared to range toward a more
experienced level of mental health care. Telecare has a robust internal training
program, and is still aiming to identify and address a variety of mental health
issues in their training process. However, there were some areas of
improvement that staff identified could help improve service offerings. This was
mostly in the area of increasing bilingual staffing. There was at least one person
who was bilingual in Spanish, but an additional staffer fluent in Spanish would be
a benefit to their community, or someone fluent in an Asian language, such
Tagalog or Cantonese. Lastly, there was a desire expressed for possible
consultation with a dietician to help more effectively plan meals for residents with
specialty needs, such as diabetic or vegetarian meals.
It was noted, however, that there were no mental health clinical staff present
during the staff interviews. The roster indicated 3 licensed, or license eligible
clinicians, but none were present during the day of the site visit. It was later
indicated that a short time after the site visit, two of these staff resigned, leaving
only one clinician and the Clinical Director to conduct clinical duties. This may
contribute to the delay in processing referral admissions as well as other
programing. A written response dated May 22, 2017 from the Hope House
management detailed a plan to help cover service gaps including engaging an
outside agency to provide contract clinician time, as well as “borrowing” a
clinician from another Telecare facility.
Moreover, interviews with County staff have revealed episodes where a few
clients have experienced reactions to medications while at Hope House.
Medication programs for consumers are normally prescribed through their normal
system of care or hospital staff outside of Hope House; however, with more
engaged monitoring from the licensed and clinical staff at Hope House, early
indicators may possibly be identified more quickly and communicated promptly to
County staff to reduce instances and severity of complications with medications.
Results. Staffing is not sufficiently in place to serve the number of clients
outlined in the Service Work Plan. It is recommended that Hope House review
its recruiting and retention practices to ensure adequate coverage of clinical staff.
It is further recommended that the County work with Hope House to create a plan
for stronger coordination of care for consumers’ medication regimens.
Please see Appendix A for Program Response
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10. Annual independent fiscal audit. Did the organization have an annual
independent fiscal audit performed and did the independent auditors issue any
findings.
Method. Obtain and review audited financial statements. If applicable, discuss
any findings or concerns identified by auditors with fiscal manager.
Discussion. Audited financial statements for Telecare were reviewed for fiscal
years ending 2014, 15 and 16. Telecare Corporation operates behavioral health
treatment programs in ten states and several California counties under cost
reimbursed and fee for service contracts, primarily with government agencies.
The corporation has been steadily growing over the years, and it’s totally owned
subsidiary, TLC Behavioral Health and Psychology Corporation operates in
California through a management agreement. The contract for operation of the
Hope House is the only contract that Telecare has with Contra Costa County.
The independent auditors did not any report any material or significant
weaknesses.
Results. No audit findings were noted.
11. Fiscal resources sufficient to deliver and sustain the services. Does the
organization have diversified revenue sources, adequate cash flow, sufficient
coverage of liabilities, and qualified fiscal management to sustain program or
plan element.
Method. Review audited financial statements. Review Board of Directors
meeting minutes. Interview fiscal manager of program.
Discussion. Telecare is an S Corporation that owns and issues significant
stocks and stock options, has diversified resources, significant operating
reserves, and a line of credit. Telecare is in the first year of a two year contract
with CCBHS, and staff report that budgeted amounts for the two year period
appear sufficient to cover operating expenses.
Results. Resources appear sufficient.
12. Oversight sufficient to comply with generally accepted accounting
principles. Does organization have appropriate qualified staff and internal
controls to assure compliance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Method. Interview with fiscal manager of program.
Discussion. The Budget Manager and Senior Financial Analyst were both
interviewed and described the processes that staff utilized to implement generally
accepted accounting principles. Both have extensive experience managing
accounting staff for organizations of this size. Supporting documentation to
monthly invoicing depict appropriate time keeping documents for tracking staff
time, proper allocation of operating costs, and segregation of duties.
12

Results. Experienced staff implements sound check and balance system.
13. Documentation sufficient to support invoices. Do the organization’s financial
reports support monthly invoices charged to the program and ensure no
duplicate billing.
Method. Reconcile financial system with monthly invoices. Interview fiscal
manager of program or plan element.
Discussion. Supporting documentation for a randomly selected monthly invoice
for each of the last three years were provided and analyzed. Telecare utilizes
Crystal Reports as the database for reconciling staff payroll. Staff budgeted as
part-time to this contract and other contracts periodically reconcile and document
actual time spent to ensure that only actual time is billed.
Results. Uses established software program with appropriate supporting
documentation protocol.
14. Documentation sufficient to support allowable expenditures. Does
organization have sufficient supporting documentation (payroll records and
timecards, receipts, allocation bases/statistics) to support program personnel and
operating expenditures charged to the program or plan element.
Method. Match random sample of one month of supporting documentation for
each fiscal year (up to three years) for identification of personnel costs and
operating expenditures invoiced to the county.
Discussion. Supporting documentation reviewed for monthly invoices appeared
to support the method of allocating appropriate costs to agreed-upon budget line
items.
Results. Method of accounting for personnel time and operating costs appear to
be supported.
15. Documentation sufficient to support expenditures invoiced in appropriate
fiscal year. Do organization’s financial system year end closing entries support
expenditures invoiced in appropriate fiscal year (i.e., fiscal year in which
expenditures were incurred regardless of when cash flows).
Method. Reconcile year end closing entries in financial system with invoices.
Interview fiscal manager of program or plan element.
Discussion. The County Auditor’s expense summaries for the last three fiscal
years were reviewed. Expenses were allocated to the correct fiscal year, and
close out appeared timely, as no expenditures surfaced after the County’s
closeout date.
Results. No billings noted for previous fiscal year expenses.
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16. Administrative costs sufficiently justified and appropriate to the total cost
of the program. Is the organization’s allocation of administrative/indirect costs
to the program commensurate with the benefit received by the program or plan
element.
Method. Review methodology and statistics used to allocate
administrative/indirect costs. Interview fiscal manager of program.
Discussion. Telecare produced its methodology that justifies the 16% indirect
rate charged to the contract.
Results. Indirect rate justified as per OMB Circular A-122.
17. Insurance policies sufficient to comply with contract. Does the organization
have insurance policies in effect that are consistent with the requirements of the
contract.
Method. Review insurance policies.
Discussion. The program provided general liability insurance policies that were
in effect at the time of the site visit.
Results. The program complies with the contract insurance requirements.
18. Effective communication between contract manager and contractor. Do
both the contract manager and contractor staff communicate routinely and clearly
regarding program activities, and any program or fiscal issues as they arise.
Method. Interview contract manager and contractor staff.
Discussion. The County has multiple staff interacting with Hope House staff.
This includes Adult Services management negotiating care, analysts to generate
and process Hope House contracts and sign and forward submitted invoices,
case managers to interact with Hope House staff regarding residents, the
hospital or psychiatric emergency services to refer potential residents or to refer
back for emergent care, County Public Works or Behavioral Health Services
Purchasing to address facility maintenance and needs, County Housing
Coordinators to attend to facility compliance issues, and MHSA staff performing
program and fiscal reviews and issuing a report with finding and
recommendations. This has resulted in challenges for Hope House staff when
issues arise needing a timely, coordinated response with follow-up toward
resolution.
Results. It is recommended that the County re-visit how it communicates with
Hope House with the objective of strengthening the County’s Transition team,
and the contract manager roles as a central program and fiscal points of contact.
Please see Appendix A for Program Response
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VIII.

Summary of Results.

Telecare’s Hope House provides appropriate crisis residential services to adults
challenged with serious mental illness. It is a voluntary service facility that is part of a
large, national for profit organization consisting of a wide variety of mental health
programs in several states. Staff and clients alike agree that service response is based
on strength based psychosocial rehabilitation principles that promote recovery, wellness
and resiliency. Staffing appears sufficient and qualified to meet self-prescribed service
objectives. Support from Hope House’s corporate and administrative headquarters
appears sufficient to enable the program to focus on service delivery.
Issues for attention pertain to the communication with the County, and staff recruitment
and retention.

IX.

Findings for Further Attention.

•

The County’s Transition Team should work with Hope House to institute regular
Level 1 reviews to ensure compliance criteria are communicated with the program,
and to get current with DSM-V guidelines.

•

It is recommended that Hope House work on a process to streamline their admission
process in order to be more responsive to the referrals in a timely manner.

•

It is recommended that the County revisit the Service Work Plan to adjust the 14 day
stay outcome to better reflect the needs of the consumers.

•

It is recommended that Hope House review its recruiting and retention practices to
ensure adequate coverage of clinical staff.

•

It is further recommended that Hope House work with the County to create a plan for
stronger coordination of care for consumers’ medication regimens.

•

The County should also strengthen the County’s Transition team, and the contract
manager roles as a central program and fiscal points of contact, as well as provide
assistance and oversight for connectivity and transition to the County’s adult system
of care.

X.

Next Review Date. February 2020
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XI.

Appendices.

Appendix A – Response from Program to Report
Appendix B – Program Description/Service Work Plan
Appendix C – Service Provider Budget
Appendix D – Yearly External Fiscal Audit
Appendix E – Organization Chart

XII.

Working Documents that Support Findings.

Consumer Listing
Consumer, Family Member Surveys
Consumer, Family Member, Provider Interviews
County MHSA Monthly Financial Report
Progress Reports, Outcomes
Centralized Utilization Review Reports
Program’s Response to UR Report
Monthly Invoices with Supporting Documentation
Indirect Cost Allocation Methodology/Plan
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes
Insurance Policies
MHSA Three Year Plan and Update(s)
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APPENDIX A
Service Provider’s Response to Report

APPENDIX B
Program Description/Service Work Plan

Telecare Corporation
Point of Contact:

Clearnise Bullard, Program Administrator
Jim Christopher, Clinical Director
Contact Information: 300 Ilene Street, Martinez, CA 94553, (925) 313-7980
cbullard@telecarecorp.com, jchristopher@telecarecorp.com
1. General Description of the Organization
Telecare Corporation was established in 1965 in the belief that persons with mental
illness are best able to achieve recovery through individualized services provided in
the least restrictive setting possible. Today, they operate over 100 programs staffed
by more than 2,500 employees in California, Oregon, Washington, Arizona,
Nebraska, North Carolina, Texas, New Mexico and Pennsylvania and provide a
broad continuum of services and supports, including Inpatient Acute Care, Inpatient
Non-Acute/Sub-Acute Care, Crisis Services, Residential Services, Assertive
Community Treatment (ACT) services, Case Management and Prevention services.
2. Program: Hope House Crisis Residential Facility - CSS
Telecare Corporation operates Hope House, a voluntary, highly structured 16-bed
Short-Term Crisis Residential Facility (CRF) for adults between the ages of 18 and
59. Hope House is serves individuals who require crisis support to avoid
hospitalization, or are discharging from the hospital or long-term locked facilities and
need step-down care to transition back to community living. The focus is clientcentered and recovery-focused, and underscores the concept of personal
responsibility for the resident's illness and independence. The program supports a
social rehabilitation model, which is designed to enhance an individual's social
connection with family and community so that they can move back into the
community and prevent a hospitalization. Services are recovery based, and tailored
to the unique strengths of each individual resident. The program offers an
environment where residents have the power to make decisions and are supported
as they look at their own life experiences, set their own paths toward recovery, and
work towards the fulfillment of their hopes and dreams. Telecare’s program is
designed to enhance client motivation to actively participate in treatment, provide
clients with intensive assistance in accessing community resources, and assist
clients develop strategies to maintain independent living in the community and
improve their overall quality of life. The program’s service design draws on evidencebased practices such as Wellness Action and Recovery Planning (WRAP),
motivational interviewing, and integrated treatment for co-occurring disorders.

a. Scope of Services:
• Individualized assessments, including, but not limited to, psychosocial skills,
reported medical needs/health status, social supports, and current functional
limitations within 72 hours of admission.
• Psychiatric assessment within 24 hours of admission.
• Treatment plan development with 72 hours of admission.
• Therapeutic individual and group counseling sessions on a daily basis to
assist clients in developing skills that enable them to progress towards selfsufficiency and to reside in less intensive levels of care.
• Crisis intervention and management services designed to enable the client to
cope with the crisis at hand, maintaining functioning status in the community,
and prevent further decompensation or hospitalization.
• Medication support services, including provision of medications, as clinically
appropriate, to all clients regardless of funding; individual and group
education for consumers on the role of medication in their recovery plans,
medication choices, risks, benefits, alternatives, side effects and how these
can be managed; supervised self-administration of medication based on
physician’s order by licensed staff; medication follow-up visit by a psychiatrist
at a frequency necessary to manage the acute symptoms to allow the client to
safely stay at the Crisis Residential Program, and to prepare the client to
transition to outpatient level of care upon discharge.
• Co-occurring capable interventions for substance use following a harm
reduction modality in addition to weekly substance abuse group meetings as
well as availability of weekly AA and NA meetings in the community.
• Weekly life skills groups offered to develop and enhance skills needed to
manage supported independent and independent living in the community.
• A comprehensive weekly calendar of activities, including physical,
recreational, social, artistic, therapeutic, spiritual, dual recovery, skills
development and outings.
• Peer support services/groups offered weekly.
• Engagement of family in treatment, as appropriate.
• Assessments for involuntary hospitalization, when necessary.
• Discharge planning and assisting clients with successful linkage to community
resources, such as outpatient mental health clinics, substance abuse
treatment programs, housing, full service partnerships, physical health care,
and benefits programs.
• Follow-up with client and their mental health service provider following
discharge to ensure that appropriate linkage has been successful.
• Daily provision of meals and snacks for residents.
• Transportation to services and activities provided in the community, as well as
medical and court appointments, if the resident’s case manager or county
worker is unavailable, as needed.

b. Target Population: Adults ages 18 to 59 who require crisis support to avoid
psychiatric hospitalization, or are discharging from the hospital or long-term
locked facilities and need step-down care to transition back to community living.
c. Payment Limit: FY 16/17: $2,077,530.00
d. Number served: Number to be served yearly: 200. Hope House served 193
clients in FY 15/16.
e. Outcomes:
• Reduction in severity of psychiatric symptoms: Discharge at least 90% of
clients to a lower level of care.
• Consumer Satisfaction: Maintain an overall client satisfaction score of at least
4.0 out of 5.0.

APPENDIX C
Service Provider Budget

CONTRACTOR DETAILED BUDGET
Telecare Corporation
Program Budget FY 2016-2017
Term: July 1, 2016 - June 30, 2017
CONTRACT # 24-712
Organization Name: Telecare Hope House Crisis Residential Center
Proposed
Budget

Personnel Costs

Regional Operations Director ($155,389 @ .10FTE)
Program Director ($133,679 @ 1.0 FTE)
Clinician ($56,465 @ 3.20 FTE)
LVN/LPT ($50,296 @ 2.80 FTE)
PSC III ($56,987 @ 1.0 FTE)
Residential Counselor ($35,295 @ 7.0 FTE)
Peer ($32,216 @ 1.40 FTE)
Clinical Director ($94,560 @ 1.0 FTE)
Business Office Manager/HR ($70,344 @ 1.0 FTE)
Clerk Typist ($32,185 @ 1.0 FTE)
Total Salaries
Benefits @ 33%

-

337,593
Total Salaries and Benefits

Operating Costs
Office Space
Printing/Photocopies
Supplies
Postage/Communications
Travel/Training
Clinical Services
Physical Plant
Dietary Services
Consultant
General & Administrative
Medical Records Services
Depreciation
Vehicle Lease
Ancillary
Total Operating Costs
Total Expenses
Indirect Costs @ 16%
Total Project Costs
Projected Medi-Cal & Medicaid Expansion
Total County Cost

15,539
133,679
193,196
140,828
56,987
247,062
45,103
88,230
70,344
32,185
1,023,153

Cash Match/
In-kind Budget
(if applicable)

1,360,745

Total
Proposed Budget

15,539
133,679
193,196
140,828
56,987
247,062
45,103
88,230
70,344
32,185
1,023,153
337,593

-

1,360,745

12
3,000
14,596
13,467
19,902
206,850
39,983
51,394
60,688
1,075
6,041
6,222
7,000
430,228

-

12
3,000
14,596
13,467
19,902
206,850
39,983
51,394
60,688
1,075
6,041
6,222
7,000
430,228

1,790,974

-

1,790,974

286,556

286,556

2,077,530

-

2,077,530

618,920

-

618,920

1,458,609

-

1,458,609

Budget Justification

APPENDIX D
Yearly External Fiscal Audit

APPENDIX E
Organization Chart

Contra Costa Behavioral Health Stakeholder Calendar
February 2018
Sun

Mon

Tue

Wed

Thu
1

Fri

Sat

2

3

9

10

16

17

23

24

CPAW:
2:00—5:00 pm
2425 Bisso Lane
Concord

4

11

5

12

6
H3 Housing:

7

8

1:00 – 3:00 pm
2425 Bisso Lane,
Concord

MH Commission:
4:30—6:30 pm
Richmond Auditorium
403 Civic Center Plaza
Richmond

Children’s:
11:00 am—1:00 pm
1340 Arnold Dr,
Ste 200, Martinez
Social Inclusion:
1:30—3:30 pm
2425 Bisso Lane
Concord

13

14

15

Systems of Care:
10:00—12:00 pm
1340 Arnold Dr,
Ste 200, Martinez

CPAW Steering:
3:00 — 4:00 pm
1340 Arnold Dr,
Ste 200, Martinez

22

18

19

20

21

25

26

27

28

CPAW Innovation:
2:30 — 4:00 pm
1340 Arnold Dr,
Ste 200, Martinez

Adults:
3:00 — 4:30 pm
1340 Arnold Dr,
Ste 200, Martinez

Aging /Older Adults:
2:00—3:30 pm
2425 Bisso Lane
Concord
AOD Advisory Board:
4:00 — 6:00 pm
1220 Morello , MTZ

